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JEFFREY GRONICH, ATTORNEY AT LAW, P.C. 
Jeffrey Gronich, Esq. (#13136) 
1810 E. Sahara Ave. 
Suite 109 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89104 
Tel:  (702) 430-6896 
Fax: (702) 369-1290 
jgronich@gronichlaw.com 
Attorney for Plaintiff Alexander Marks 
 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
 

DISTRICT OF NEVADA 
 

ALEXANDER MARKS an individual;   
 
                             Plaintiff, 
vs. 
 
DAVID SAXE PRODUCTIONS, LLC; 
SAXE MANAGEMENT, LLC; DAVID 
SAXE, an individual; EMPLOYEE(S) / 
AGENT(S) DOES 1-10; and ROE 
CORPORATIONS 11-20, inclusive; 
 
                              Defendants. 

   
Case No. 2:17-cv-02110 
     
 
PLAINTIFF’S RESPONSE TO 
DEFENDANTS’ MOTION TO 
DISMISS PLAINTIFF’S THIRD CLAIM 
FOR RELIEF  

  
  Plaintiff Alexander Marks, by and through his attorney Jeffrey Gronich, Esq. of Jeffrey 

Gronich, Attorney at Law, P.C., and hereby submits this Response to Defendants’ Motion to 

Dismiss Plaintiff’s Third Claim for Relief. 

/// 

/// 

/// 

/// 

/// 

/// 

/// 

/// 

Case 2:17-cv-02110-KJD-DJA   Document 15   Filed 09/29/17   Page 1 of 14

0036



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

 

 

 

 

Page 2 of 14 
 

Je
ff

re
y 

G
ro

ni
ch

, A
tto

rn
ey

 a
t L

aw
, P

.C
. 

18
10

 E
. S

ah
ar

a 
A

ve
., 

Su
ite

 1
09

 
La

s V
eg

as
, N

ev
ad

a 
89

10
4 

(7
02

) 4
30

-6
89

6 
 F

A
X

:  
(7

02
) 3

69
-1

29
0 

  This response is submitted based upon the Memorandum of Points and Authorities below, 

the papers and pleadings on file in this matter, and any oral argument the Court may allow. 

 

 DATED this 29th day of September, 2017 

       Respectfully submitted, 

       By: __/s/ Jeffrey Gronich_ __ 
 Jeffrey Gronich, Esq. 

Jeffrey Gronich, Attorney at Law, P.C. 
1810 E. Sahara Ave. 
Suite 109 
Las Vegas, NV 89104 

        Tel  (702) 430-6896 
 Fax (702) 369-1290 

 
MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES 

 
I. INTRODUCTION 

  Defendant argues that Plaintiff’s Third Claim for Relief must be dismissed as a matter of 

law. Specifically, while Defendants acknowledge that Nevada law does recognize a claim for 

public-policy discharge for retaliation for engaging in whistleblowing activities, in this case, they 

assert that Plaintiff did not engage in protected whistleblowing activities. Defendants claim that in 

order for an employee to be protected under Nevada’s limited exception to the at-will employment 

doctrine for whistleblowing, that employee must have actually “blown the whistle” – not merely 

threaten to – to an outside agency. However, this misstates the purpose and intent of the at-will 

exceptions. 

  First, Plaintiff need not have actually made the report to an outside agency as long as 

Defendants were aware that he was going to make such a report and terminated him before he had 

the ability to do so. To hold that a defendant can escape liability for a preemptive termination 

would frustrate the entire purpose of Nevada’s exception to the at-will doctrine 
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 Second, as noted in Defendant’s brief, “public policy tortious discharge actions are 

severely limited to those rare and exceptional cases where the employer’s conduct violates strong 

and compelling public policy.” Wayment v. Holmes, 112 Nev. 232, 236, 912 P.23 816, 818 (1996). 

The key here is that the exception to the at-will doctrine is described as one that violates strong and 

compelling public policy. It does not matter to whom Plaintiff reported the unsafe or unlawful 

conduct that he alleged, what matters is his motive for doing so. Here, it is clear that the safety and 

well-being of the employees and theater patrons was paramount to his threat to report unsafe and 

unlawful conditions. Plaintiff’s motives were not based on a proprietary reason, but rather for the 

public good. 

 Finally, Defendant argues that Plaintiff had an adequate statutory remedy to cover his 

retaliation claims and as such may not bring a claim in tort. While this theory is generally true, that 

doctrine is only applicable if Plaintiff is able to obtain the same relief in statute that he could in 

tort. In this case, as Plaintiff will demonstrate below, the relevant statutory schemes do not provide 

for tort-like damages and thus the availability of a statutory remedy does not preclude a claim in 

tort.  

II. RELEVANT FACTS 

  Under FRCP 12(b)(6), “all allegations of material fact are taken as true and construed in 

the light most favorable to plaintiff.”  Epstein v. Wash. Energy Co., 83 F.3d 1136, 1140 (9th Cir. 

1996). Defendants have accurately described most of the relevant factual allegations listed in 

Plaintiff’s complaint and therefore those will not be repeated here. 

 However, Defendants left out one important point. On March 2, 2016, Plaintiff informed 

Defendant that he was going to report Defendant’s wrongful payroll practices to the Labor 

Commissioner, and that he was going to report the continued safety violations to OSHA. See 

Plaintiff’s Complaint, ECF No. 1, Exhibit A, ¶56-57, ¶78. Immediately after hearing this, 
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Defendants terminated Plaintiff’s employment. Id ¶58, ¶79. 

III. LEGAL ARGUMENT 

Defendants moved to dismiss based on Federal Rule 12(b)(6). Defendants moved to 

dismiss based on Federal Rule 12(b)(6). “To survive a motion to dismiss, a complaint must 

contain sufficient factual matter, accepted as true, to state a claim to relief that is plausible on its 

face” Ashcroft v. Iqbal, 556 U.S. 662, 678, 129 S. Ct. 1937, 1949, 173 L. Ed. 2d 868 (2009). As 

stated in Gliman v. Davis, 690 F. Supp.2d 1105, (E.D. Cal. 2010), ‘”plausibility,’ as it is used in 

Twombly and Iqbal, does not refer to the likelihood that a pleader will succeed in proving the 

allegations. Instead, it refers to whether the non-conclusory factual allegations, when assumed to 

be true, allow the court to draw the reasonable inference that the defendant is liable for the 

misconduct alleged.”  

FRCP 8(a) dictates that the Complaint shall contain a “short and plain statement of the 

claim showing that the pleader is entitled to relief.” This Rule “generally requires only a 

plausible ‘short and plain’ statement of the plaintiff's claim, not an exposition of his legal 

argument.” Rivera v. Peri & Sons Farms, Inc., 735 F.3d 892, 899 (9th Cir. 2013) (citing Skinner 

v. Switzer, 131 S. Ct. 1289, 1296, 179 L. Ed. 2d 233 (2011)). Under Bell Atlantic Corp. v. 

Twombly, 550 U.S. 544, 555, (2007), the Complaint must give Defendant “fair notice of what the 

claim is and the grounds upon which it rests.”  

In reviewing Plaintiff’s Complaint under FRCP 12(b)(6), “all allegations of material fact 

are taken as true and construed in the light most favorable to plaintiff.” Epstein v. Wash. Energy 

Co., 83 F.3d 1136, 1140 (9th Cir. 1996). Additionally, when deciding a motion to dismiss 

pursuant to FRCP 12(b)(6), this Court must “take all allegations of material fact as true and 

construe them in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party.” Burgert v. Lokelani Bernice 

Pauhi Bishop Trust, 200 F.3d 661, 663 (9th Cir. 2000). 
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A. Plaintiff Engaged in Protected Activity 
 

1. Plaintiff Need Not Have Actually Filed a Claim with Outside 
Authorities  

 
  Plaintiff’s Third Claim for Relief is for Tortious Discharge in violation of Nevada’s public 

policy protecting whistleblowers. As mentioned in Defendant’s Motion, an employer commits a 

tortious discharge by terminating an employee for reasons which violate public policy. D'Angelo 

v. Gardner, 107 Nev. 704, 712, 819 P.2d 206, 212 (1991). That case specifically stated that it is 

against the great weight of public policy to terminate an individual’s employment for seeking a 

safe and healthy working environment, Id. at 719 (“There can be no doubt but that the public 

policy of this state favors safe employment practices and the protection of the health and safety of 

workers on the job…This being the case, we hold that dismissal of an employee for seeking a safe 

and healthy working environment is contrary to the public policy of this state.”) Nevada has 

recognized that employees who expose unsafe or unlawful activity for the purpose of serving the 

public good are protected from retaliation by their employer. See Allum v. Valley Bank of Nevada, 

114 Nev. 1313, 970 P.2d 1062 (1998); Wiltsie v. Baby Grand Corp., 105 Nev. 291, 774 P.2d 432, 

(1989). 

 The Court affirmed in D’Angelo v. Gardner, 107 Nev. 704, 819 P.2d 206, 216 (Nev. 

1991), “the essence of a tortious discharge is the wrongful, usually retaliatory, interruption of 

employment by means which are deemed to be contrary to the public policy of this state.” 

Contrary to Defendant’s argument, none of the Nevada cases cited stand for the proposition that 

the employee must have filed a claim prior to being terminated. Consider what the Nevada 

Supreme Court stated in Hansen v. Harrah’s, 100 Nev. 60, 63 675 P.2d 394 (Nev. 1984) when 

discussing retaliation for filing a claim for workers’ compensation:  
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It would not only frustrate the statutory scheme, but also provide employers with 
an inequitable advantage if they were able to intimidate employees with the loss of 
their jobs upon the filing of claims for insurance benefits as a result of industrial 
injuries. 
 

 The issue in this case is causation – that is whether or not Defendants terminated Plaintiff 

because Plaintiff threatened to make a claim to both OSHA and the Labor Commissioner. The 

Ninth Circuit, when discussing retaliatory discharge under Title VII, has stated, “[c]ausation 

sufficient to establish a prima facie case of unlawful retaliation may be inferred from the 

proximity in time between the protected action and the allegedly retaliatory discharge” Miller v. 

Fairchild Indus., Inc., 797 F.2d 727, 731 (9th Cir. 1986); see also, Yartzoff v. Thomas, 809 F.2d 

1371, 1377 (9th Cir.1987). There is no case that Plaintiff is aware of, in the Ninth Circuit or 

Nevada, in which a court states that termination MUST occur after the employee actually files a 

claim in order to make out a prima facie case of retaliation.  

 In fact, there are cases which state precisely the opposite. In a Tenth Circuit case 

analyzing retaliation under a Title VII claim, the court said, “[a]ction taken against an individual 

in anticipation of that person engaging in protected opposition to discrimination is no less 

retaliatory than action taken after the fact; consequently, we hold that this form of preemptive 

retaliation falls within the scope of 42 U.S.C. § 2000e–3(a)” Sauers v. Salt Lake Cnty., 1 F.3d 

1122, 1128 (10th Cir. 1993). A California Federal District court held similarly, saying “An 

employer's generalized concern that an employee might complain or assist in another's complaint 

about discrimination is sufficient to meet the prima facie element” E.E.O.C. v. California 

Psychiatric Transitions, Inc., 725 F. Supp. 2d 1100, 1109 (E.D. Cal. 2010).  

 Although these cases concern retaliation under Title VII, the reasoning behind the 

Courts’ decisions is applicable to all kinds of retaliation claims, including for whistleblowing.  

 As explained hereinabove, Marks made his threats to file a complaint to both OSHA and 

the Labor Commissioner on March 2, 2016 and was immediately thereafter terminated before he 
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had the opportunity to make that claim. Marks alleges that Defendant was aware that he was 

going to file such a claim, but terminated his employment before he had that chance. See 

Plaintiff’s Complaint at ¶78-79. 

 In this case Defendants terminated Plaintiff before he had a chance to file his claims with 

any outside agency, but not before they feared that he would do so. Allowing an employer to 

escape liability for tortious discharge by preemptively terminating a Plaintiff would encourage 

employers to fire their employees the very moment the employee discusses any safety issue or 

threatens to make a claim unless the problem gets corrected first. This would completely go 

against the Court’s reasoning set forth in Hansen where the court discussed the importance of 

ensuring that employees need not have to choose between having a job and making a rightful 

claim protecting some public interest. By terminating employees preemptively, the employer 

sends a message to other employees that they should keep their mouths shut.  

  Accordingly, because Plaintiff has properly pled that he told Defendants that he was 

going to expose the illegal employment practices to both the Nevada Labor Commissioner and 

the Occupational Safety and Health Administration, but was terminated before he had the chance 

to actually make that claim, Defendants should not be able to escape liability. Plaintiff has pled 

enough facts to show that Defendants were aware that there would be an impending claim to an 

outside agency. This is different from merely making an internal complaint. As such, Plaintiff’s 

Third Clam for Relief should not be dismissed. 

2. Defendant Misinterprets the holding of the Wiltsie Case 
 
  Defendants, citing to Wiltsie v. Baby Grand Corp., 105 Nev. 291, 774 P.2d 432, (1989), 

contend, that in order for the employee to be protected as a whistleblower, he must have reported 

the illegal conduct to an outside authority other than the employer. However, Defendants 

misconstrue this standard and the holding of Wiltsie.  
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 In Wiltsie, the Nevada Supreme Court stated: 

No public policy is more basic than the enforcement of our gaming 
laws. “We believe that whistleblowing activity which serves a 
public purpose should be protected. So long as employees' actions 
are not merely private or proprietary, but instead seek to further the 
public good, the decision to expose illegal or unsafe practices should 
be encouraged.” Wagner v. City of Globe, 150 Ariz. 82, 722 P.2d 
250, 257 (1986). In this case appellant alleged that he was 
discharged for reporting illegal activity to his supervisor. Because 
appellant chose to report the activity to his supervisor rather than the 
appropriate authorities, he was merely acting in a private or 
proprietary manner. Cf. Zaniecki v. P.A. Bergner & Co., 143 
Ill.App.3d 668, 97 Ill.Dec. 756, 493 N.E.2d 419 (1986) (reporting 
suspected illegal activity to a supervisor is a purely private action) 

  Wiltsie v. Baby Grand Corp., 105 Nev. 291, 293, 774 P.2d 432, 433–34 (1989). The 

Court in that case did not delve into any analysis of why the Plaintiff in that case chose to report 

the illegal conduct to his supervisor rather than an outside agency. In fact, the case does not even 

describe what the illegal conduct the employee was reporting, other than an allusion to gaming 

laws. The key takeaway from Wiltsie is not that an employee must go to an outside agency to be 

protected, but rather that the employee is protecting a public interest, as opposed to a proprietary 

one.  

 In that particular case, the Court decided that because the employee only reported the 

illegal conduct to a supervisor and not an outside agency, it was a proprietary concern, not a 

public one. However, that does not mean that every instance in which the employee fails to 

report illegal conduct to an outside agency is proprietary. The question should not be to whom 

was the report made, but rather why did the employee feel compelled to report it. If the answer is 

to protect his own interests (license, wages, reputation, employer’s reputation, etc.), then it is a 

proprietary interest, not a public one. If however, the employee intends to protect a public good, 

such as safety, public well-being, or community interest, then it is not purely proprietary, but 
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rather the employee is looking out for the good of others. This is the intent of the “public policy” 

doctrine, to protect an employee looking out for a public interest.  

 Wiltsie itself based its ruling on the Illinois case Zaniecki v. P.A. Bergner & Co., 143 

Ill.App.3d 668, 97 Ill.Dec. 756, 493 N.E.2d 419 (1986). In that case, an employee reported to his 

employer’s chief security office that his supervisor had been stealing wood from the company. 

The reporting employee was subsequently terminated. The Illinois Appellate Court stated, 

“[a]lthough there is no precise line of demarcation dividing matters that are the subject of public 

policies from matters purely personal…a matter must strike at the heart of a citizen's social 

rights, duties and responsibilities before the tort will be allowed.” Id.at 670. However, the Court 

then went on to characterize the matter in that specific case as a purely internal matter which did 

not concern the public well being. Id. at 671. The Court did acknowledge that had the employee 

involved a public authority, the matter might have been converted to one of public concern. Id. 

However, because the matter initially only involved internal theft within the company, there was 

no public concern.  

 The Illinois Supreme Court later went on to overturn Zaniecki, holding that a complaint 

of retaliatory discharge is not precluded based on an employee’s failure to report unlawful 

activity to a public official. Lanning v. Morris Mobile Meals, Inc., 308 Ill. App. 3d 490, 493, 720 

N.E.2d 1128, 1131 (1999). Thus, the case Wiltsie was originally based on has been overturned, 

effectively negating the principles on which Wiltsie stands.  

 Many other states and circuits have held, similar to Lanning – that reports to internal 

personnel do not transform public issues into private disputes Consider, Aiken v. Bus. & Indus. 

Health Grp., Inc., 886 F. Supp. 1565, 1571 (D. Kan. 1995), aff'd sub nom. Aiken v. Employer 

Health Servs., Inc., 81 F.3d 172 (10th Cir. 1996) (In order to prevail on his claim, plaintiff must 

show he was discharged because he “reported to superiors or to public authorities serious 
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misconduct that constitutes a violation of the law and of ... well established and clearly mandated 

public policy.); Belline v. K-Mart Corp., 940 F.2d 184, 187 (7th Cir. 1991) (To hold otherwise 

would be to create perverse incentives by inviting concerned employees to bypass internal 

channels altogether and immediately summon the police); Liberatore v. Melville Corp., 168 F.3d 

1326, 1331 (D.C. Cir. 1999); Kearl v. Portage Envtl., Inc., 205 P.3d 496, 499 (Colo. App. 2008);  

  Probably the best logical reasoning for extending protection to internal whistleblowers 

comes from Oklahoma. In Barker v. State Ins. Fund, 2001 40 P.3d 463, 468, as corrected (Nov. 

7, 2001), the Court stated: 

…one of the primary goals of protecting whistle-blowers from 
retaliatory discharge is to reduce wrongdoing in a speedy, 
efficacious manner. In that respect, it makes sense to recognize 
claims of whistle-blowers who report wrongdoing within the 
employing organization to a person in a position to investigate and 
remedy the wrongdoing. Second, internal disclosures are much less 
disruptive to the company than external disclosures. Loyal 
employees, who do not go outside their organizations, should not 
have less protection than employees who could be considered more 
disruptive by complaining outside their organizations (internal 
citations omitted). 

 Whether or not the employee went to a public official is not conclusive of whether a 

dispute concerned a public or proprietary interest. The Federal District Court for the District of 

Nevada recently stated: 

Defendants also assert that the context and form of Plaintiff's 
complaints should weigh against finding that her speech involves 
matters of public concern. Defendants emphasize that the Medical 
Staff Issues spreadsheet was presented only to the Board, and not to 
any public outlet. In a close case, when the subject matter of a 
statement is only marginally related to issues of public concern, the 
fact that it was made ... to co-workers rather than to the press may 
lead the court to conclude that the statement does not substantially 
involve a matter of public concern. This is not a close case. 
Plaintiff's complaints involve matters of public concern, including 
patient care at HGH. This content is not outweighed by the fact that 
the Medical Staff Issues spreadsheet was an internal document. 
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  Kim v. Humboldt Cty. Hosp. Dist., No. 3:12-CV-00430-MMD, 2015 WL 1330192, at *6 

(D. Nev. Mar. 25, 2015) (internal citations omitted). Thus, within Nevada, courts have 

recognized that safety standards DO involve matters of public concern.  

  In this case, there is no doubt that Marks spoke with Defendant David Saxe about the 

safety and wage issues. The issue is not whether such complaint was made to an outside agency, 

rather the question is whether such report was made for personal proprietary reasons, or for the 

public benefit. This is a question of fact to be more fully fleshed out through the course of 

discovery. At this juncture, it is inappropriate to merely presume that Marks’ intentions were to 

protect a proprietary interest.  

 If, through discovery, Defendants determine that Plaintiff was acting in a proprietary 

interest, at that point they should file a Motion for Summary Judgment on this issue. Until then, 

however, at the very least Plaintiff’s claim must be allowed to proceed. If this Court requires 

Plaintiff to amend his Complaint to include a sentence clarifying that the purpose of his 

complaints to Saxe were to protect the safety and well being of the other employees and patrons, 

he will agree to amend his complaint to add such information. However it would be 

inappropriate to dismiss this claim with prejudice. 

B. There is No Statutory Remedy to Adequately Compensate Plaintiff 
 
  Defendants next argue that when a statutory remedy is available, a plaintiff cannot 

maintain an action in tort for wrongful termination. Defendants are partially correct, but leave 

out an important caveat to that doctrine.  

 In D'Angelo v. Gardner, 107 Nev. 704, 720 (1991), the Court explained that where a state 

or federal employment statute concerning wrongful termination expressly provides for the same 

remedies that can be had in tort, that a tortious discharge claim may not be maintained. To be 

clear, that Court clarified a previous decision (Sands Regent v. Valgardson, 105 Nev. 436 

Case 2:17-cv-02110-KJD-DJA   Document 15   Filed 09/29/17   Page 11 of 14

0046



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

 

 

 

 

Page 12 of 14 
 

Je
ff

re
y 

G
ro

ni
ch

, A
tto

rn
ey

 a
t L

aw
, P

.C
. 

18
10

 E
. S

ah
ar

a 
A

ve
., 

Su
ite

 1
09

 
La

s V
eg

as
, N

ev
ad

a 
89

10
4 

(7
02

) 4
30

-6
89

6 
 F

A
X

:  
(7

02
) 3

69
-1

29
0 

(1989)) which explained that although it is against public policy to terminate an employee 

because of age, the Age Discrimination in Employment Act (“ADEA”) already provided for tort-

like damages and thus the Court would not recognize a tortious discharge claim for age 

discrimination. Like the plaintiff in Valgardson, the Plaintiff in D’Angelo also had a separate 

statutory remedy under the Occupational Safety and Health Act. However, unlike the ADEA, 

neither NRS 618 nor 29 USC §660 provide for tort damages, only for an administrative claim 

with a potential recovery for reinstatement and past wages – not general damages.  

 The issue came before the Court again a few years later where a plaintiff alleged he was 

terminated as a result of testifying against his employer as a witness and brought a claim for 

tortious discharge. Shoen v. Amerco, Inc., 111 Nev. 735, 744, 896 P.2d 469, 475 (1995). In that 

case, the Court compared D’Angelo and Valgardson and found that where the statutory remedy 

(NRS 50.070) allowed for reinstatement, recovery of lost wages and benefits, recovery of 

attorney’s fees, and recovery of an additional amount equal to the lost wages and benefits in 

liquidated damages, that such damages were the same tort-type damages that preclude recovery 

on a theory of tortious discharge. Id. The difference, then, is that where a plaintiff can bring 

relief under a statute, the Court will not recognize a claim for tortious discharge unless the statute 

does not provide for similar damages that the plaintiff could obtain in tort 

 Defendants come to this Court and attempt to say that Plaintiff’s claim should be barred 

because he had a statutory remedy through that Occupational Safety and Health Act, even though 

the Nevada Supreme Court has already ruled that a potential claim through OSHA does not 

extinguish a plaintiff’s right to bring the claim in tort because OSHA does not provide for tort-

like remedies. Accordingly, that aspect of Defendant’s argument is without merit.  

 Next, neither NRS Chapter 607 or Chapter 608 – regarding the duties and obligations of 

the Nevada Labor Commissioner – speak to claim for retaliation for filing a claim. Nowhere in 
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those statutory schemes is there any remedy or procedure for making a claim for retaliation for 

bringing a claim to the labor commissioner.  Accordingly, there is no adequate statutory remedy 

available for Plaintiff to otherwise bring this claim. 

 Therefore, contrary to Defendants’ argument, there are no relevant statutes that provide 

adequate remedies for this type of conduct, and Plaintiff’s claim should not be dismissed.  

IV. CONCLUSION 
 
  For the above stated reasons, this Court should deny Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss 

Plaintiff’s Third Claim for Relief for failure to state a claim. Alternatively, should this court grant 

Defendant’s Motion, Plaintiff asks that such dismissal should be without prejudice so that Plaintiff 

may be able to amend and correct any deficiencies. 

 

Dated this 29th day of September, 2017 

       Respectfully submitted, 

       By: ___/s/ Jeffrey Gronich_ _ 
 Jeffrey Gronich, Esq. 

Jeffrey Gronich, Attorney at Law, P.C. 
1810 E. Sahara Ave. 
Suite 109 
Las Vegas, NV 89104 

        Tel  (702) 430-6896 
       Fax (702) 369-1290 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

  I HEREBY CERTIFY that on this 29th day of September, 2017, I caused to be served a 
true and correct copy of the foregoing PLAINTIFF’S RESPONSE TO DEFENDANTS’ 
MOTION TO DISMISS PLAINTIFF’S THIRD CLAIM FOR RELIEF on the following 
person(s) by electronically filing via the CM/ECF system utilized by this Court: 
 
 
 
Kristen A. Milton, Esq. 
Mahna Pourshaban, Esq. 
JACKSON LEWIS P.C. 
3800 Howard Hughes Parkway 
Suite 600 
Las Vegas, NV 89169 
 
Attorneys for Defendants 

 
 
 
______/s/ Jeffrey Gronich_ ________ 

     An Employee of Jeffrey Gronich, Attorney at Law, P.C 
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Jackson Lewis P.C. 

Las Vegas 

Kirsten A. Milton 
Nevada State Bar No. 14401 
Mahna Pourshaban 
Nevada State Bar No. 13743 
JACKSON LEWIS P.C. 
3800 Howard Hughes Pkwy, Suite 600 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89169 
Tel: (702) 921-2460 
Email:  kirsten.milton@jacksonlewis.com
Email:  mahna.pourshaban@jacksonlewis.com

Attorneys for Defendants 
David Saxe Productions, LLC, 
Saxe Management, LLC and David Saxe 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

DISTRICT OF NEVADA  

ALEXANDER MARKS, an individual, 

Plaintiff, 

vs. 

DAVID SAXE PRODUCTIONS, LLC; 
SAXE MANAGEMENT, LLC; DAVID 
SAXE, an individual; EMPLOYEE(S) / 
AGENT(S) DOES 1-10; and ROE 
CORPORATIONS 11-20, inclusive 

Defendants. 

Case No. 2:17-cv-02110-KJD-CWH 

REPLY IN SUPPORT OF 
DEFENDANTS’ MOTION TO DISMISS 
PLAINTIFF’S THIRD CLAIM FOR 
RELIEF 

I. INTRODUCTION 

Defendants David Saxe Productions, LLC; Saxe Management, LLC; and David Saxe 

(“Defendant Saxe”) (collectively, “Defendants”) file this reply in support of their Motion to Dismiss 

Plaintiff Alexander Marks’ (“Plaintiff”) Third Claim for Relief pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil 

Procedure 12(b)(6) because Plaintiff fails to state a claim upon which relief can be granted.  The 

Nevada Supreme Court has clearly held that tortious discharge claims are rare, and severely limited, 

and that they are not appropriate when, as here, Plaintiff, an alleged whistleblower, admittedly never 

complained to any outside authority, as he must to state a claim for tortious discharge.  Moreover, 

Plaintiff’s Third Claim for Relief should be dismissed for the additional reason that, even if he were 
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a whistleblower, his claim cannot stand because adequate statutory remedies are available to him.  

Sands Regent v. Valgardson, 105 Nev. 436, 439-440, 777 P.2d 898, 900 (1989) (emphasis added).  

There is simply no dispute that federal statutory schemes provide a full panoply of remedies for 

alleged retaliation.  See 29 U.S.C. § 216(b) (allowing reinstatement, back pay, compensatory 

damages, liquidated damages, as well as attorney’s fees reinstatement); 29 U.S.C. § 660(c)(2)); 

U.S. Dep’t of Labor, OSHA Instruction, “Whistleblower Investigations Manual,” CPL 02-03-007, 

at 6-1-6-10 (Jan. 28, 2016) (allowing reinstatement, back pay, compensatory and punitive 

damages).   Accordingly, Plaintiff’s tortious discharge claim should be dismissed.   

II. ARGUMENT 

A. Plaintiff’s Claim For Tortious Discharge Must Be Dismissed Because He 
Failed To Complain Outside The Company.    

Despite Plaintiff’s suggestion to the contrary, the Nevada Supreme Court has “severely 

limited [public policy tortious discharge actions] to those rare and exceptional cases where the 

employer’s conduct violates strong and compelling public policy.”  Valgardson, 777 P.2d at 900 

(emphasis added); see also State v. Eighth Judicial District Court (Anzalone), 118 Nev. 140, 151-

52, 42 P.3d 233, 240-41 (Nev. 2002).  Indeed, the law in Nevada regarding tortious discharge is 

clear: there are only four scenarios in which the court will entertain such claims—retaliation for 

filing a workers’ compensation claim, refusing to work in unreasonably dangerous conditions, 

retaliation for engaging in whistleblowing activities, and refusing to participate in illegal activities.  

Hansen v. Harrah’s, 100 Nev. 60, 64, 675 P.2d 394, 397 (Nev. 1984); D’Angelo, 107 Nev. at 719, 

819 P.2d at 216; Wiltsie v. Baby Grand Corp., 105 Nev. 291, 293, 774 P.2d 432, 433 (Nev. 1989); 

Allum v. Valley Bank, 114 Nev. 1313, 1322-24, 970 P.2d 1062, 1067-68 (Nev. 1998).   

In his Response to Defendant’s Motion to Dismiss Plaintiff’s Third Claim for Relief 

(“Response”), Plaintiff admits that his tortious discharge claim is based on alleged activities 

whistleblowing activities.  ECF No. 15 at 5.  He further admits that, to qualify for this narrow public 

policy exception, an employee’s actions must be for the public good, and not merely private or 

proprietary.  Resp. at 7; Wiltsie, 105 Nev. at 293, 774 P.2d at 433. Contrary to Plaintiff’s contention, 

however, the “key takeaway from Wiltsie” is precisely that “an employee must report the 
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employer’s allegedly illegal activity to the appropriate authorities outside of the company” 

otherwise it is not an action for the public good.1  ECF No. 15 at 8; Scott v. Corizon Health Inc., 

No. 3:14-CV-00004-LRH-VPC, 2014 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 65066, **6-7 (D. Nev. May 9, 2014) 

(emphasis in original) (citing Biesler v. Prof. Sys. Corp., 177 Fed. Appx. 655, 656 (9th Cir. 2006) 

(“Nevada precedent is clear, therefore, that unless an employee reports the employer’s allegedly 

illegal activity to authorities outside of the company, he or she cannot claim protected 

whistleblower status.”)).  Relying on Wiltsie, the Nevada Supreme Court, District Court of Nevada, 

and U.S. Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit have all repeatedly dismissed plaintiffs’ tortious 

discharge claims specifically because the employee did not report the alleged illegal activities “to 

the appropriate authorities outside the company.”  Whiting v. Maxim Healthcare Servs., Inc., No. 

56432, 2012 Nev. Unpub. LEXIS 1215, at *2 (Nev. Sept. 13, 2012); Reuber v. Reno Dodge Sales, 

Inc., No. 61602, 2013 Nev. Unpub. LEXIS 1658, at *3 (Nev. Nov. 1, 2013) (citation omitted)

(“While this court has recognized protections for whistleblowers, such protections are limited to an 

employee who reports activity to an agency outside the company. . . .”); Ainsworth v. Newmount 

Mining Corp., No. 56250, 2012 Nev. Unpub. LEXIS 435, at *7-8 (Nev. Mar. 20, 2102) (same); 

Biesler, 177 Fed. Appx. at 656 (same); see Van Asdale v. Int’l Game Tech., No. 11-16538, No. 

11016626, 549 Fed. Appx. 611, 2013 U.S. App. LEXIS 19843, at *5 (9th Cir. Sept. 27, 2013) 

(“Nevada’s tortious-discharge law states that an employee must expose an employer’s illegal 

activity to the proper authorities, not merely to a supervisor, to be entitled to protection for 

whistleblowing.”); Wilson v. Greater Las Vegas Ass’n of Realtors, Case No. 2:14-cv-00362-APG-

NJK, 2016 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 58595, at *18-19 (D. Nev. Mar. 9, 2015) (dismissing plaintiff’s 

tortious discharge claim because her conduct did not “seek to further the public good” because she 

did not allege that she reported misconduct to the “appropriate authorities”).2

1 Plaintiff’s citation to Hansen v. Harrah’s, 100 Nev. 60, 675 P.2d 394 (Nev. 1984), ECF No. 15, distracts.  
Significant to that case, and unlike Plaintiff, Hansen actually complained outside the company by filing a workmen’s 
compensation claim.  Id. at 62. 

2 Plaintiff’s discussion of retaliation claims under Title VII is irrelevant.  Title VII is a separate statute that 
provides for its own statutory scheme of procedures and remedies.  42 U.S.C. 2000e et seq.  Because the Nevada 
Supreme Court has expressly held that a plaintiff must complain to authorities outside the company to state a claim for 
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Here, Plaintiff admits that he did not report any alleged violations to any “appropriate 

authorities outside of the company.”  ECF No. 1 ¶¶ 37, 56, 57, 78.  And, his Response confirms 

that:  “Plaintiff informed Defendant that he was going to report Defendant’s wrongful payroll 

practices to the Labor Commissioner, and that he was going to report the continued safety violations 

to OSHA.”  ECF No. 15 at 3.  Thus, there is no dispute that Plaintiff did not complain to outside 

authorities before his employment was terminated – as he must to state a claim for tortious discharge 

based on whistleblowing allegations – and this ends the analysis as a matter of law.3

Recognizing his claim is doomed for this reason alone, in his Response, Plaintiff spends 

four pages discussing the law in other circuits interpreting other state laws.4  ECF No. 15 at 8-14.  

But, what courts have said in other circuits interpreting other state laws is irrelevant to Plaintiff’s 

Nevada tortious discharge claim.  Here, the Court must apply the law of the state of Nevada and 

that law undisputedly requires Plaintiff to report the alleged violations “outside the company” to be 

considered a whistleblower under Nevada’s tortious discharge law.  In fact, in Whiting and 

Ainsworth, the Nevada Supreme Court has twice expressly rejected the same argument Plaintiff 

advocates for here – i.e., to expand the whistleblowing protection to cover internal reporting.  

Whiting, 2012 Nev. Unpub. LEXIS 1215 at *2; 2012; Ainsworth, Nev. Unpub. LEXIS 435 at *7-8.  

If the Nevada Supreme Court has expressly rejected Plaintiff’s argument, so should the Court here 

and dismiss Plaintiff’s claim with prejudice.  See Miller v. Burk, 124 Nev. 579, 597, 188 P.3d 1112, 

1124 (Nev. 2008) (“[U]nder the doctrine of stare decisis, [this court] will not overturn [precedent] 

absent compelling reasons for so doing. Mere disagreement does not suffice.”) (brackets in 

original).  

tortious discharge based on whistleblowing activities, how courts have interpreted Title VII retaliation claims has 
nothing to do with the instant litigation.  

3 Plaintiff asks the Court “to amend his Complaint to include a sentence clarifying that the purpose of his 
complaints to Saxe were to protect the safety and well being of other employees and patrons,” ECF No. 15, but, for the 
reasons previously discussed, such an allegation does not cure the deficiencies in Plaintiff’s Complaint, much less 
establish that he complained to outside authorities sufficient to state a plausible claim for tortious discharge for alleged 
whistleblowing activities. 

4 Plaintiff’s argument that the Court should ignore the decision in Wiltsie because the Illinois case Wiltsie
considered has since been overturned is a make weight.  ECF No. 15 at 9.  Putting aside the fact that Nevada law is 
clear, Nevada state and federal courts, as well as the Ninth Circuit, have all consistently upheld Wiltsie in the nearly 20 
years since the Illinois case was overturned. 
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B. Plaintiff Has A Full Panoply Of Remedies Available To Him Under Other 
Statutory Schemes. 

Assuming arguendo that Plaintiff could state a claim for tortious discharge for his alleged 

whistleblowing activities – he cannot – the parties agree that Plaintiff is precluded from asserting 

such a claim if other statutory remedies are available.  ECF No. 15 at 11; ECF No. 7 at 5-7; Herman 

v. United Broth. Of Carpenters and Joiners of Am., Local Union No. 971, 60 F.3d 1375, 1385 (9th 

Cir. 1995) (“The Nevada Supreme Court has held that Nevada’s public policy against impermissible 

discrimination cannot be vindicated through a tortious discharge public policy tort, but rather must 

be pursued through statutory remedies.”).  Plaintiff, however, misstates Nevada law, claiming that 

a tortious discharge claim cannot be maintained only where a state or federal statute provides for 

“the same remedies that can be had in tort.”  ECF No. 15 at 11.  While such is true, Nevada law 

goes even further precluding a plaintiff from asserting a tortious discharge claim if that claim 

circumvents a “comprehensive statutory [scheme] or other tort remedy available.”  D’Angelo v. 

Gardner, 107 Nev. 704, 819 P.2d 206, 722 (Nev. 1991).  In other words, where a “comprehensive 

statutory remedy exist,” a plaintiff cannot bring an action for tortious discharge.  Id. 

Here, there can be no dispute that the Occupational Safety and Health Act of 1970, 29 U.S.C. 

§ 651 et seq. (“OSHA”), provides Plaintiff with a comprehensive statutory remedy.  Although 

unclear from the allegations in his Complaint, a claim for alleged retaliatory discharge under OSHA 

is governed by Section 11(c), 29 U.S.C. § 660(c).  Id. (providing in pertinent part, [n]o person shall 

discharge or in any manner discriminate against any employee because such employee has filed 

any complaint or instituted or caused to be instituted any proceeding under or related to this chapter 

. . . .”).  The law is clear that, under Section 11(c), an employee can recover back pay, compensatory 

and punitive damages, as well as reinstatement and other injunctive relief. 29 U.S.C. § 660(c)(2) 

(“United States district courts shall have jurisdiction, for cause shown to restrain violations of 

paragraph (1) of this subsection and order all appropriate relief including rehiring or reinstatement 

of the employee to his former position with back pay.”); U.S. Dep’t of Labor, OSHA Instruction, 

“Whistleblower Investigations Manual,” CPL 02-03-007, at 6-1-6-10 (Jan. 28, 2016); 

https://www.whistleblowers.gov/whistleblower_acts-desk_reference.pdf; see also Reich v. 
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Cambridgeport Air Sys. Inc., 26 F.3d 1187, 1191 (1st Cir. 1994) (by allowing the court to “‘order 

all appropriate relief,’” the statute impliedly authorized compensatory and exemplary or punitive 

damages); Perez v. Clearwater Paper Corp., 184 F. Supp. 3d 831, 843 (D. Idaho 2016) (awarding 

$50,000 for emotional damages and doubling the plaintiff's award for back-pay as punitive 

damages). 

Similarly, under the FLSA, a plaintiff may be entitled to reinstatement, back pay, 

compensatory damages, liquidated damages, and reasonable attorneys’ fees.  29 U.S.C. § 216(b); 

Lambert v. Ackerley, 180 F.3d 997, 1017 (9th Cir. 1999) (allowing for recovery of emotional 

distress damages for FLSA retaliation claims); Lagos v. Monster Painting, Inc., No. 2:11-CV-

00331-LRH-GWF, 2013 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 158384, at *15-16 (D. Nev. Nov. 5, 2013) (permitting 

recovery of compensatory damages for emotional distress for plaintiff’s FLSA retaliation claim).  

Thus, as discussed in more detail in Defendants’ Motion (ECF No. 7), because OSHA and 

the FLSA each undisputedly provide Plaintiff with a comprehensive scheme of statutory remedies 

he could obtain with respect to his claims that he was discharged in retaliation for exposing wage 

violations and unsafe working conditions, additional tortious discharge remedies are not proper.5

Plaintiff’s tortious discharge claim should be dismissed for this additional reason.  Shoen v. Amerco, 

Inc., 111 Nev. 735, 896 P.2d 469, 475 (Nev. 1995) (precluding recovery for tortious discharge 

because the statutory remedy allowed for reinstatement, recovery of lost wages and benefits, 

recovery of attorney’s fees, and recovery of liquidated damages); see also ECF No. 7 at 5-6. 

5 Presumably because he recognizes he has a full panoply of statutory remedies available to him under federal 
law, Plaintiff wholly ignores his federal remedies and instead argues that his state law remedies are more limited. ECF 
No. 15 at 11-13.  This argument does not save his claim.  The law is clear, and Plaintiff himself concedes, that “where 
a state or federal” statute, as in the instant case, provides for comprehensive statutory remedies, a plaintiff does not 
have a claim for tortious discharge under Nevada law.  ECF No. 15 at 11; ECF No. 7 at 5-6; Sands Regent v. Valgardson, 
105 Nev. 436, 440, 777 P.2d 898, 900 (Nev. 1989). 
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III. CONCLUSION 

For each and all of the reasons set forth above, as well as those articulated in Defendants’ 

opening Motion, Defendants respectfully ask the Court to dismiss Plaintiff’s Third Claim for Relief.   

Dated this 13th day of October, 2017. 

JACKSON LEWIS P.C. 

/s/ Kirsten A. Milton  
Kirsten A. Milton, Bar #14401 
Mahna Pourshaban, Bar #13743 
3800 Howard Hughes Parkway, Suite 600 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89169 

Attorneys for Defendants 
David Saxe Productions, LLC, 
Saxe Management, LLC and David Saxe
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I HEREBY CERTIFY that I am an employee of Jackson Lewis P.C., and that on this 13th 

day of October, 2017, I caused to be served via the Court’s CM/ECF Filing, a true and correct copy 

of the above foregoing REPLY IN SUPPORT OF DEFENDANTS’ MOTION TO DISMISS 

PLAINTIFF’S THIRD CLAIM FOR RELIEF properly addressed to the following: 

Jeffrey Gronich 
Jeffrey Gronich, Attorney At Law, P.C. 
1810 E. Sahara Ave., Ste. 109 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89104 

Attorneys for Plaintiff 
Alexander Marks

/s/ Kelley Chandler   
Employee of Jackson Lewis P.C. 
4814-8327-4577, v. 1
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

DISTRICT OF NEVADA 

 
 
ALEXANDER MARKS, an individual, 
 

Plaintiff, 
v.  

 
DAVID SAXE PRODUCTIONS, LLC; SAXE 
MANAGEMENT, LLC; DAVID SAXE, an 
individual; EMPLOYEE(S) / AGENT(S) DOES 
1-10; and ROE CORPORATIONS 11-20, 
inclusive, 
 

Defendants. 
 

Case No. 2:17-cv-02110-KJD-CWH 
 
 
ORDER 
 
 

  
 

 Presently before the Court is Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss Plaintiff’s Third Claim for 

Relief (#7). Plaintiff filed a response (#15) to which Defendants replied (#18). 

I. Background  

The present action involves Plaintiff’s termination by David Saxe (“Saxe”). According to 

the allegations of the complaint, Plaintiff worked as Defendants’ General Counsel. During 

February 2016, Plaintiff discovered violations of federal and state safety standards by 

Defendants’ employees. Plaintiff reported the violations to Saxe. Towards the end of February, 

Plaintiff warned Saxe that he would have to report the violations to OSHA.  
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On February 26, 2016, Plaintiff found that Saxe had not paid him for a day he left early 

due to illness. Plaintiff believed this violated 29 CFR 541.602 and started an investigation on the 

matter. On March 2, 2016, Saxe learned about the investigation and met with Plaintiff.  During 

their conversation, Plaintiff told Saxe that he would report workplace violations to the 

appropriate authorities. Saxe terminated Plaintiff after this comment. 

 On June 22, 2017, Plaintiff filed the present complaint alleging three causes of action: 

(1) a violation of 29 U.S.C. § 215 (FLSA); (2) a violation of NRS 613.040 (regarding political 

activity); and (3) a claim for common law public policy tortious discharge based on Plaintiff’s 

whistleblower activity. Plaintiff’s third cause of action actually consists of two separate claims: 

(1) a common law public policy tortious discharge claim based on Plaintiff reporting safety 

violations (OSHA) and (2) a common law public policy tortious discharge claim based on 

Plaintiff reporting illegal payroll practices. Defendants have now moved to dismiss both of these 

whistleblower claims.  

II. Legal Standard 

 In considering a motion to dismiss, “all well-pleaded allegations of material fact are taken 

as true and construed in a light most favorable to the non-moving party.” Wyler Summit P’ship 

v. Turner Broad. Sys., Inc., 135 F.3d 658, 661 (9th Cir. 1988) (citation omitted). Consequently, 

there is a strong presumption against dismissing an action for failure to state a claim. See 

Gilligan v. Jamco Dev. Corp., 108 F.3d 246, 249 (9th Cir. 1998) (citation omitted). 

 “To survive a motion to dismiss, a complaint must contain factual matter, accepted as 

true, to ‘state a claim to relief that is plausible on its face.’” Ashcroft v. Iqbal, 129 S. Ct. 1937, 

1949 (2009) (citing Bell Atl. Corp. v. Twombly, 550 U.S. 544, 570 (2007)). Plausibility, in the 

context of a motion to dismiss, means that the plaintiff has pleaded facts that allow “the court to 
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draw the reasonable interference that the defendant is liable for the misconduct alleged.” Id. 

 The Iqbal evaluation illustrates a two-prong analysis. First, the court identifies the 

“allegations in the complaint that are not entitled to the assumption of truth,” that is, those 

allegations which are legal conclusions, bare assertions, or merely conclusory. Id. at 1949–51. 

Mere recitations of the elements of a cause of action, supported only by conclusory statements, 

do not suffice. Id. at 1949. Second, the court considers the factual allegations “to determine if 

they plausibly suggest an entitlement to relief.” Id. at 1951. If the allegations state plausible 

claims for relief, such claims survive the motion to dismiss. Id. at 1950.  

III. Analysis   

 A. Whistleblower Status 

 Under Nevada law, a tortious discharge claim arises “when an employer dismisses an 

employee in retaliation for the employee’s doing of acts which are consistent with or supportive 

of sound public policy and the common good.” D’Angelo v. Gardner, 819 P.2d 206, 215 

(Nev. 1991). An employee reporting an employer’s illegal activities to the government is 

supportive of the common good. Ainsworth v. Newmont Mining Corp., 2012 WL 987222, at *1 

(Nev. Mar. 20, 2012) (citing Wiltsie v. Baby Grand Corp., 774 P.2d 432, 433 (Nev. 1989)).  

 Defendant has moved to dismiss Plaintiff’s tortious discharge claim asserting that 

Defendant is not a whistleblower. To acquire whistleblower status, “an employee must 

affirmatively decide to expose illegal or unsafe practices.” Ainsworth, 2012 WL 987222, at *2. 

Plaintiff’s discussion with Defendant Saxe about his intention to report Defendants’ alleged 

illegal practices was an affirmative decision. Therefore, Defendants’ motion to dismiss based on 

Plaintiff’s lack of whistleblower status is denied.  
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 B. Alternative Remedies  

 Under Nevada law, a court will not recognize a claim for tortious discharge when “a 

comprehensive statutory remedy” provides a tort-type remedy. Shoen v. Amerco, Inc., 

896 P.2d 469, 475 (Nev. 1995); D’Angelo, 819 P.2d at 217. A statutory remedy that includes 

“reinstatement, recovery of lost wages and benefits, recovery of attorney’s fees, and recovery of 

‘[damages] equal to the amount of the lost wages and benefits’” will be sufficient to establish a 

tort-type remedy. Shoen, 896 P.2d at 475 (quoting Nev. Rev. Stat. § 50.070 (West 1995)). 

However, a statutory remedy providing only “reinstatement and past wages and not general 

damages” is insufficient to show a tort-type remedy. D’Angelo, 819 P.2d at 217. 

 Plaintiff possesses a separate common law public policy tortious discharge claim for each 

instance of his whistleblower activity. Plaintiff’s whistleblower activity consists of his threats to 

report Defendants’ OSHA and FLSA violations. Plaintiff’s termination over these threats allow 

him to pursue two different causes of action under 29 U.S.C. § 660(c)(2) and 29 U.S.C. § 215. 

Thus, this Court will consider Plaintiff’s common law public policy tortious discharge claim as 

two separate causes of action. 

  1.  Common Law Public Policy Tortious Discharge - OSHA 

  Here, Plaintiff correctly asserts that the remedy found in N.R.S. § 618 is 

inadequate since it only provides for “reinstatement and reimbursement for lost wages and work 

benefits.” Nev. Rev. Stat. § 50.070(4). While there is no adequate remedy under N.R.S. § 618, 

29 U.S.C. § 660(c)(2) provides Plaintiff an opportunity for all “appropriate relief” which 

includes reinstatement, back pay, compensatory damages, or punitive damages. 29 U.S.C. § 

660(c)(2) (2018); see Reich v. Cambridgeport Air Sys. Inc., 26 F.3d 1187, 1191 (1st Cir. 1994) 

(holding that “all appropriate relief” includes monetary damages); Perez v. U.S. Postal Serv., 76 
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F. Supp. 3d 1168, 1193 (W.D. Wash. 2015) (allowing plaintiff to recover compensatory 

damages). Although Plaintiff has a tort-type remedy under 29 U.S.C. § 660(c)(2), this remedy is 

insufficient since it requires the Secretary of Labor to bring the claim. This requirement restricts 

Plaintiff from sufficiently vindicating his rights. See D’Angelo, 819 P.2d at 217. Therefore, 

Defendants’ motion to dismiss Plaintiff’s common law public policy tortious discharge claim 

based on his intention to report Defendants’ alleged OSHA violations is denied. 

  2. Common Law Public Policy Tortious Discharge - FLSA 

   Plaintiff’s common law public policy tortious discharge claim for threatening to 

report Defendants’ alleged FLSA violations has an alternative remedy. Plaintiff has already filed 

a cause of action relating to these violations under 29 U.S.C. § 215 in his complaint. The 

remedies for violation of this statute include “reinstatement, promotion, and payment of wages 

lost and the payment of wages lost and an additional equal amount as liquidated damages” and 

allow the court to award “reasonable attorney’s fees paid by the defendant.” 29 U.S.C. § 216(b) 

(2018). These remedies are sufficient to satisfy the requirements of a tort-type remedy. 

Therefore, Defendants’ motion to dismiss Plaintiff’s common law public policy tortious 

discharge claim based on his intention to report Defendants’ alleged FLSA violations is granted. 

IV. Conclusion  

 Accordingly, IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss Plaintiff’s 

Third Claim for Relief (#7) is GRANTED in part and DENIED in part.  

DATED this 12th day of June, 2018.  

 

    _____________________________ 
 Kent J. Dawson 
 United States District Judge 
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Kirsten A. Milton 
Nevada State Bar No. 14401 
Lynne K. McChrystal 
Nevada State Bar No. 14739 
JACKSON LEWIS P.C. 
300 S. Fourth Street, Suite 900 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 
Tel: (702) 921-2460 
Email:  kirsten.milton@jacksonlewis.com
Email:  lynne.mcchrystal@jacksonlewis.com

Attorneys for Defendants 
David Saxe Productions, LLC, 
Saxe Management, LLC and David Saxe 
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DISTRICT OF NEVADA  

ALEXANDER MARKS, an individual, 

Plaintiff, 

vs. 

DAVID SAXE PRODUCTIONS, LLC; 
SAXE MANAGEMENT, LLC; DAVID 
SAXE, an individual; EMPLOYEE(S) / 
AGENT(S) DOES 1-10; and ROE 
CORPORATIONS 11-20, inclusive 

Defendants. 

Case No. 2:17-cv-02110-KJD-DJA 

DEFENDANTS’ MOTION FOR 
SUMMARY JUDGMENT 

Defendants David Saxe Productions, LLC; Saxe Management, LLC; and David Saxe 

(“Saxe”) (collectively, “Defendants”) move for summary judgment in their favor and against 

Alexander Marks (“Marks” or “Plaintiff”).  This Motion is based upon Fed. R. Civ. P. 56, the 

following Memorandum of Points and Authorities, the exhibits attached hereto and such other  

/// 

/// 

/// 

/// 

/// 
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argument the Court may wish to consider. 

Respectfully submitted this 20th day of December, 2019. 

JACKSON LEWIS P.C. 

/s/ Kirsten A. Milton
Kirsten A. Milton, Bar #14401 
Lynne K. McChrystal, Bar #14739 
300 S. Fourth Street, Suite 900 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 

Attorneys for Defendants 
David Saxe Productions, LLC, 
Saxe Management, LLC and David Saxe 

MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES 

I. INTRODUCTION  

This case is nothing more than the case of a disgruntled former General Counsel who, more 

than one year after the termination of his employment, concocted a tale of retaliation because he 

wanted to “get even with David Saxe for firing him.”  Exhibit A, Deposition of Andrew August 

(“August Dep.”) 65:4-23-66:25 (Ex. 3 ¶ 4).  From April 6, 2015 until March 1, 2016, Plaintiff 

served as DSP’s General Counsel until Defendants terminated his employment for poor 

performance and failure to sufficiently fulfill his duties as General Counsel.  On June 22, 2017, 

more than one year following the termination of his employment, Marks filed the instant Complaint, 

alleging (1) retaliation pursuant to the Fair Labor Standards Act, 29 U.S.C. § 215 (“FLSA”); (2) 

violation of NRS 613.040; and (3) tortious discharge.  None of Marks’ claims have legal merit and 

as set forth below, DSP is entitled to summary judgment as to each of Marks’ claims. 

First, any actions Marks took regarding the FLSA were within the context of his role as 

DSP’s General Counsel, and, therefore, failed to rise to the level of FLSA protected activity.   

Moreover, even if he had not been the individual tasked with ensuring DSP’s compliance with wage 

and hour laws, no “reasonable, objective person would have understood” that Marks was putting 

him on notice that he was “asserting statutory rights under the FLSA” when, five minutes before 

his termination, he vaguely referred to a “wage investigation.”  Kasten v. Saint-Gobain 

Performance Plastics Corp., 563 U.S. 1, 14 (2011).  Further, the uncontroverted evidence 
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establishes that, throughout his employment, Marks failed to timely meet deadlines and complete 

the tasks required of him (well before he made any alleged wage complaints), culminating in the 

termination of his employment when he proved unable to campaign for office while at the same 

time meeting the responsibilities of his job at DSP.  There can be no dispute, and there are simply 

no facts, to establish that “but for” Marks’ alleged wage complaints, Saxe would not have 

terminated Marks’ employment.   

Second, Marks’ allegations fail to state a legally cognizable claim under NRS 613.040 based 

on the plain meaning of the statute, and the undisputed evidence demonstrates that Marks was 

terminated for apolitical reasons (job performance) and not because Saxe disagreed with Marks’ 

political viewpoint.  See Couch v. Morgan Stanley & Co., No. 1:14-cv-10-LJO-JLT, 2015 U.S. 

Dist. LEXIS 104021 at *38 (E.D. Cal. Aug. 7, 2015) (“an employer cannot terminate its employee 

solely for expressing his/her political viewpoints or disagreeing with an employee’s political 

viewpoint”) (emphasis added).  In fact, Marks, a Democrat, admits that he did not “know” and 

“never asked” Saxe’s political affiliation.   

Finally, Marks’ tortious discharge claim fails a matter of law because he did not report the 

alleged violations outside of the company until after his termination, he cannot prove that his 

termination was proximately caused by any alleged complaint, and, under the circumstances, could 

not have held a reasonable, good faith belief that the alleged OSHA violations actually occurred.  

II. UNDISPUTED FACTS 

A. MARKS’ EMPLOYMENT WITH DSP 

Plaintiff, Alexander Marks, is DSP’s former in-house, General Counsel.  Exhibit B, 

Deposition of David Saxe (“Saxe Dep.”) 73:6-10.  Defendant David Saxe is responsible for the 

day-to-day management of Defendant DSP and oversees DSP’s accounting, legal, and human 

resources departments.  Id. at 58:21-59:14. Saxe hired Marks in April 2015 after Marks’ mother, 

who worked at a coffee shop frequented by Saxe, referred Marks to Saxe.  Id. at 74:16-75:5.  During 

the interview process, Saxe conveyed his expectation that Marks would be in the office, working, 

during DSP’s normal office hours of 8:30 a.m. to 5:00 p.m., Monday through Friday. Id at 91:15-

19, 92:9-14.   

Case 2:17-cv-02110-KJD-DJA   Document 41   Filed 12/20/19   Page 3 of 30

0065



4 Jackson Lewis P.C. 

Las Vegas

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

In his role as General Counsel, Marks was responsible for ensuring DSP was operating in 

compliance with the law, specifically, his “primary focus was contracts and fair labor.”  Exhibit C, 

Deposition of Alexander Marks (“Marks Dep.”) 106:10-19.  Plaintiff testified that in his “role as 

general counsel . . . [he] was supposed to talk to [Defendant Saxe] as an attorney about issues that 

[] [he] thought were in violation of wage and hour loss [sic].”  Id. at 339:25-340:4.  In preparation 

for his new role as General Counsel, before he even started working for DSP, Marks read about the 

“Fair Labor Standards Act . . .[because he knew] that that was going to be [his] primary focus . . . . 

so [he] was pretty well prepped in terms of day one for what [he’d] be facing.”  Id. at 106:10-19.  

Marks testified, “my job is compliance.  If I find an issue, I have to fix it.  I don’t look for issues 

but if they arise, that’s my job as general counsel, to look for the company’s best interest.”  Id. at 

115:14-17.  Marks further testified that “it was [his] job” as General Counsel to “keep[] [David 

Saxe] compliant” with the law.  Id. at 51:16-25.  As the General Counsel, Marks wrote the employee 

provision regarding “the process for investigating possible wage deduction issues” and as the 

General Counsel, Marks testified if “wage theft or wage deductions were improper were brought to 

my attention, I am to investigate that.”  Id. at. 54:7-55:3.   

Shortly after Marks began working for DSP, he announced his intention to run for political 

office.  Ex. B, Saxe Dep. 112:6-16.  Marks spoke with excitement regarding his plans and described 

political office as “his dream” to Saxe.  Id. at 114:11-15.  Marks told Saxe not to worry about 

Marks’ ability to balance his duties at DSP with his upcoming campaign.  Id. at 114:11-24.  Saxe 

felt happy that Marks had found his purpose but was concerned about Marks’ ability to focus on 

his work at DSP while campaigning.  Id. at 115:17-116:19.  Nonetheless, Marks testified that Saxe 

was “absolutely” supportive of Marks running for office.  Ex. C, Marks Dep. 31:12 – 32:3.  Marks 

testified that Saxe even brought up the fact that he was running for political office in manager 

meetings because “it was an exciting thing for the office. . . It was kind of cool.  Everybody was 

excited about it.”  Id. at 176:23-177:7.  Marks further testified that “the understanding that I had 

from my boss, who clearly was on board with my running for assembly and senate, was complete 

support.”  Id. at 59:14-16; Ex. B, Saxe Dep.115:17-116:19 (“I could understand that it was a big 

deal for him and he was excited, so there was a part of me that was, all right, good for you, you 

Case 2:17-cv-02110-KJD-DJA   Document 41   Filed 12/20/19   Page 4 of 30

0066



5 Jackson Lewis P.C. 

Las Vegas

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

know, I’m genuinely happy that you found your purpose and this is what you’ve always wanted, I 

was happy for him.”).  While Marks planned to run as a Democrat, he did not discuss political 

affiliation with Saxe or otherwise know Saxe’s political affiliation.  Ex. C, Marks Dep. 12:20-13:3. 

B. MARKS’ JOB PERFORMANCE 

Despite his assurances to Saxe, Marks described running for political office as very time 

consuming and admitted he worked on his campaign during DSP work hours. Id. at 27:6-23, 

160:16-21.  In fact, shortly after Marks told Saxe of his intention to run for political office, Saxe 

walked by Marks’ office and observed him talking about his political goals on the telephone during 

the workday.  Ex. B, Saxe Dep.117:12-118:6.  Saxe described another occasion where Marks 

appeared to be directing the marketing team to assist him with his campaign: 

Q.  Okay.  What other instance? 
… 
A:  The time he was standing around the marketing team and giving them—pointing 
over their shoulder, giving them direction.  And it was—I asked [Vice President of 
Operations] Veronica [Duran], I believe, why is he there?  Why is Alex down there?  
And she said she didn’t know, she was going to find out.  And then I think she said, 
“I think he’s got them doing his website or some graphics or something for his 
campaign.”  

Id. at 118:7-17.  Saxe also testified that Ania Koslowski, the sales and marketing manager, 

approached Saxe, asked him to “get Alex away from people,” and stated “[h]e’s driving us 

[expletive] crazy with his political stuff.”  Id. at 120:5-9.  DSP employee Andrew August 

(“August”) testified that “Alex [Marks] must have called me into his office at least 20 times just to 

brag to me that he was running for state senate and to try to ask my opinion on things like his 

website [and] logo design.” Ex. A, August Dep. 65:4-23 (Ex. 3 ¶ 4).  Indeed, consistent with Saxe’s 

February and March 2016 emails to Marks, August testified that “Alex admitted to me that David 

told him to stop working on his campaign at the office and to stop distracting and soliciting the 

employees with his political campaign, but Alex stated that he didn’t ‘give a shit’ and was going to 

do it anyway.”  Id. at 65:4-23 (Ex. 3 ¶ 5).  On an increasingly frequent basis, Saxe could not locate 

Marks in the office because Marks was leaving work in the middle of the day for campaign 

meetings.  On one occasion, Saxe wished to discuss an issue with Marks, but could not find him in 

the office at 10:15 a.m.  Exhibit D at MARKS-00001.  Saxe sent Marks an email stating “I’m 
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happy for you about your political aspirations but I shouldn’t have to pay for it.  Constantly leaving 

the office early, not showing up, working on your campaign out of the office etc. doesn’t work for 

me.  Not sure why you aren’t in office now but when/if you come back we need to discuss.”  Id.

Marks admitted he was absent from the office that day because he was meeting with a lobbyist to 

solicit funds for his campaign.  Ex. C, Marks Dep. 155:3-156:7. 

Other DSP employees noticed that Marks seemed to spend a lot of the work day focused on 

his campaign activities.  Ex. A, August Dep. 65:4-23 (Ex. 3 ¶ 7). For example, former DSP 

Controller1 Larry Tokarski (“Tokarski”) testified that Marks asked him his opinion about his campaign 

logo, discussed his campaign with him, worked on his campaign at the office, and even left the office 

to work on campaign-related activities.  Exhibit E, Deposition of Larry Tokarski (“Tokarski Dep.”) 

67:14-68:8.  DSP’s Vice President of Operations, Veronica Duran (“Duran”), also noticed that Marks 

would leave the office for two-hour lunches, arrive later in the mornings, and leave work early on an 

increasingly frequent basis as the campaign season progressed.  Exhibit F, Declaration of Veronica 

Duran (“Duran Decl.”) ¶ 7.  When Duran walked by Marks’ office, she often observed Marks working 

on his personal tablet rather than his work computer.2 Id. at ¶ 8.  Based on her observations, Duran 

estimated that Marks spent half of his time in the office working on his personal tablet.  Id. at ¶ 9.  Duran 

was heavily involved in assisting Saxe with the day-to-day management of all departments at DSP, 

including the legal department, and also noticed that Marks often failed to complete tasks in a timely 

fashion.  Id. at ¶ 10.  Duran believed Marks could have completed all of his assigned tasks if he had 

worked a forty-hour workweek.  Id. at ¶ 11.  Duran shared her concerns regarding Marks’ lack of focus 

and overall job performance with Saxe.  Id. at ¶ 12. 

In fact, as early as June 2015, Saxe had already started to express frustration with Marks’ 

failure to meet deadlines, as well as communicate his status on the projects to which he was 

assigned.  Exhibit G, Declaration of David Saxe (“Saxe Decl.”) ¶ 6, Ex. 1.  Saxe testified that, 

1 Tokarski was responsible for all financial accounting for DSP throughout the duration of Marks’ employment.  Ex. 
E, Tokarski Dep. 16:15-19, 32:20-21. 

2  Marks’ desk was arranged in a “U” shape, with his seat facing the wall and his work computer facing the office 
entrance, so any passerby could see whether Marks was utilizing his work computer or his personal tablet.  Id. at ¶ 8. 
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during his employment, Marks was “constantly” missing deadlines.  Ex. B, Saxe Dep. 120:18-25 

(emphasis added).  For example, Marks was responsible for procuring work visas for performers 

coming from outside the United States to perform in one of Saxe’s productions.  Id. at 131:7-12.  

Marks failed to procure the visas on time, which resulted in the performers having to arrive later 

than expected, as well as increasing the associated costs to DSP, which had to pay for expedited 

processing fees due to Marks’ delay.  Id. at 132:2-9; Ex. G, Saxe Decl. ¶ 10, Ex. 5.  In another 

example, in October 2015, Marks failed to timely secure a deposit for a show, did not notify Saxe 

of his failure to obtain the deposit, and still let the show open without securing the appropriate 

funds.  Ex. G, Saxe Decl. ¶ 9, Ex. 4.  Marks also failed to properly manage and coordinate with 

outside counsel regarding lawsuits those counsel were handling for DSP.  Ex. B, Saxe Dep. 132:18-

133:5 

In fact, in as early as August 2015, Saxe told Marks that he was considering terminating 

Marks’ employment for performance issues, stating “[y]our attitude has been poor for a while now 

and your performance lackluster at best.  This isn’t working for me.  Let’s meet today at noon to 

discuss our options: [t]ermination, [quitting], [o]r getting on the same page!”  Ex. G, Saxe Decl. ¶ 

7, Ex. 2.  During his deposition, Marks admitted he understood that at various points throughout 

his employment, Saxe had issues with his performance, and, only four months after Marks was 

hired, Saxe was considering terminating Marks’ employment.  Ex. C, Marks Dep. 114:8-19; 

354:11-14.   

Marks’ failure to communicate with Saxe was a persistent issue throughout his employment 

at DSP.  Ex. G, Saxe Decl. ¶ 8, Ex. 3.  Marks agreed that, throughout his employment, he needed 

to do a better job of communicating with Saxe and Saxe was already telling him he needed to do so 

in August 2015.  Ex. C, Marks Dep. 351:5-12-352:6. Marks continued to struggle with 

communication until his termination, as evidence by a January 28, 2016 email from Marks to Saxe 

wherein Marks promised to communicate more with Saxe in response to a request for the statuses 

of several outstanding projects.  Ex. G, Saxe Decl. ¶ 11, Ex. 6.  Ultimately, Saxe believed Marks’ 

failure to perform his job duties “got  progressively worse.”  Ex. B, Saxe Dep. 134:13-19.   
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C. SAXE TERMINATED MARKS’ EMPLOYMENT 

For Saxe, the last straw occurred in or around February 2016, when it became clear to him 

that Marks “was clearly not into work for me” and his decision to run for political office was coming 

at the expense of his ability to perform sufficiently his job duties as General Counsel.  Id. at 150:4-

5; Ex. G, Saxe Decl. ¶ 12, Ex. 7.  In a February 29, 2016 email recording his mental impressions 

and observations regarding Marks’ performance, Saxe reiterated that Marks’ run for political office 

had been and continued to “interfere with [] [his] obligations at work.”  Id.  On March 1, 2016, 

Saxe once again told Marks, “I am very excited for you that you are running for office, but it is not 

fair that you conduct your campaign business while at the office and during hours you are being 

paid by dsp.”  Id.  at ¶ 13, Ex. 8.  On March 2, 2016, Saxe decided to terminate Marks’ employment.  

Ex. B. Saxe Dep. 149:7-15.  Saxe made the decision after a conversation with Marks where Saxe 

asked Marks to show up to the office and focus on work.  Id.  at 149:23-150:3. Saxe described the 

impetus for this conversation: 

Q:  What prompted that conversation? 

A:  Alex [Marks] was clearly not into work for me.  He was calling out more, 
showing up late, distant in our conversation, steering conversations away from 
whatever work topic we might be on.  He was just acting very weird towards me. 

Q:  Is this something you noticed over a long period of time, or was there a specific 
incident? 

A:  Growing over a period of time, so it had reared it’s [sic] head for a while, but it 
was growing worse, and his attitude towards me was getting worse. 

Id. at 150:4-15.  Approximately 15 minutes after Saxe asked Marks to focus on work, Saxe observed 

Marks call another employee into Marks’ office to complain about Saxe, rather than work on his 

assigned tasks as Saxe had requested.  Id. at 153:2-154:2.   Saxe called Marks back into his office 

and said, “All right. Apparently you didn’t do what I’m asking of you, and it doesn’t work for me, 

and we have grown apart. . . . You’re not – you’re just not my guy, and I don’t trust you anymore, 

and you have no respect for me or this job, so I’m going to let you go.”  Id. at 155:20-156:8.  When 

asked about this conversation during his deposition, Marks testified, in part, that Saxe “said, you’re 

just never here, this isn’t working for me, you’re fired.”  Ex. C, Marks Dep. 388:11-15. 
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D. MARKS’ CHARACTERIZATION OF ALLEGED RETALIATION WAS 
BASED ON HIS CLAIMS OF ALLEGED “WAGE THEFT,” NOT POLITICS 

Marks testified that he believed the reason for his termination was his alleged “wage 

investigation” which he described as the day he left work early, and received full pay, as the actual 

reason for his suit: “the Friday of him telling me not to pay me, that was the original comment he 

had made. So I kind of told [Tokarski] that that was the catalyst of everything. . . .”  Id. at 216:8-

21; 310:4-5.  According to Marks, the alleged issue of “illegally deducting exempt workers’ wages” 

and “wage theft” stemmed from a conversation he had with Tokarski on February 27, 2019, where 

Tokarski told Marks that Saxe had instructed him not to pay Marks for the previous day when 

Marks had left work early due to illness.  Id. at 82:5-11.  In response, Marks claimed he asked 

Tokarski for three years’ worth of payroll records for exempt, salaried employees, and Tokarski 

responded that he could not pull the employee records going back three years because he was too 

busy.  Id. at 82:12-21, 87:8-19.  Tokarski, however, did not recall Marks’ request for payroll 

records, which would he thought would have been an “unusual” request.  Ex. E, Tokarski Dep. 

126:21-127:5.  Although Tokarski did not recall Marks’ alleged request for three years’ of payroll 

records for salaried employees, both Marks and Tokarski confirmed that Tokarsksi never 

communicated Marks’ alleged request for payroll records to Saxe.  Ex. C, Marks Dep. 87:20-88:10; 

Ex. E, Tokarski Dep. 129:12-17.  In any event, Marks admits that regardless of Saxe’s alleged 

instruction DSP did in fact pay Marks for that day and he never told Saxe of any threat of going to 

the labor commission.  Ex. C, Marks Dep. 53:14-18, 53:25-54:8.   

Further, Marks testified that “five minutes before” Saxe terminated his employment on 

March 2, 2016, Marks told Saxe he was doing a “wage investigation.”  Id. at 76:7-21; 81:8-13; 

386:22-387:9, 388:11-15.  Marks did not mention any wage issues regarding non-exempt 

employees or threaten to go to the Labor Commissioner.  Id.  During Marks’ deposition he 

ultimately testified that he had no knowledge regarding Saxe’s awareness of his alleged wage 

claims prior to Marks’ termination.  Ex. C, Marks Dep. 281:8-13; 451:21-452.  Saxe also confirmed 

that neither Tokarski or Marks asked him for any employee payroll information.  Ex. B, Saxe Dep. 

137:10-25.  And, Saxe’s testimony is consistent with Marks’ version of the last conversation he had 
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with Saxe, in which, according to Marks, he said to Saxe “this is about the wage investigation” and 

Saxe said, “I don’t know what you’re talking about.” Ex. C, Marks Dep. 56:14-57:15.  Notably, 

Tokarski denied that there were any specific instances where DSP employees were not being paid 

properly.  Ex. E, Tokarski Dep. 24:14-16. 

Finally, the record evidence makes clear that Marks never thought his termination was 

related to his run for political office, but instead was about his alleged “wage investigation.”  Marks 

testified that during his final conversation with Saxe, he “bluntly” told Saxe, “this isn’t about 

politics, this about the wage investigation, let’s not pretend. . . . it’s not about politics.” Ex. C, 

Marks Dep. 56:14-57:15.  Tokarski also testified that Marks and he talked about “the genesis of 

everything was [Marks] not getting paid for the day he worked.”  Ex. E, Tokarski Dep. 75:21-76:4.  

Marks also emailed another DSP employee and claimed “David [Saxe] and I had a slight 

disagreement over not illegally deducting exempt workers’ wages today, so I was let go.  I went 

down fighting for workers, so that’s fine.”  Ex. C, Marks Dep. 342:20-343:14; Exhibit H at 

MARKS-00019.  He also told his friend, that he believed he “was terminated for looking into wage 

theft,” that he “was given the reason of political campaigning . . . but [] [he] believe[d] it was 

something else.”  Ex. C, Marks Dep. 181:17-182:8. 

E. MARKS’ POST-TERMINATION COMPLAINTS TO THE LABOR 
COMMISSIONER AND OSHA.  

The day after his termination, Marks filed two complaints with the Office of the Labor 

Commissioner for the State of Nevada (“Labor Commissioner”). Id. at 204:13-18; Exhibit I at 

MARKS-00013-00017.  Marks completed the content of the complaints after his termination and 

delivered the complaints by hand. Ex. C, Marks Dep. 221:9-24, 223:13-224:7.   

Like his complaint to the Labor Commissioner, Marks admitted that he “never actually filed 

a complaint with OSHA until after your employment was terminated” despite the fact that he did 

not observe a single DSP employee performing welding without certification after January 2016.  

Ex. C, Marks Dep. 271:16-272:7; 278:10-279:7; Exhibit J, MARKS-00028-00029.  According to 

Marks, he first became aware of the OSHA “issue” in November 2015 when he arranged a theater 

tour for a group of students. Ex. C, Marks Dep. 250:18-251:13. As he walked the students through 
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the theater, Marks claims he noticed an employee welding, learned that certifications were required 

to perform welding, and discovered after the fact that the employee he observed during the tour did 

not have a certification. Id. at 251:14-24, 254:6-16, 260:24-261:11.  Marks, Duran, and Saxe began 

working to resolve the issue by identifying employees had previous certifications and other 

employees whom it be would be cost-effective to have certified.  Id. at 263:25-264:21.  Marks’ 

March 4, 2016 OSHA complaint also contained an allegation that the V theater did not have a hot 

works permit.  Id. at 281:20-282:2.  However, Marks admitted he never talked to anyone outside of 

DSP about the alleged permit issue and discussed the permits with Saxe at the same time as the 

welding issue.  Id. at 268:8-16.  Marks also admitted he never mentioned the alleged OSHA issues 

to Saxe in a context other than his role as General Counsel and that, his Complaint allegation, 

wherein he alleged he “told Saxe that he would have to report the violations to OSHA” was 

mischaracterized. Id. at 294:15-295:9; 297:4-13.  Specifically, Marks testified: 

Q:  So which is it, Alex; that you told David that you were going to report the 
violations to OSHA, or that you never told him that? 

A:  I wasn’t explicit I’m going to OSHA.  It was these are reportable violations. 
…  
Q:  You were telling him as—you were advising him as the general counsel that you 
thought these were violations of OSHA? 

A: Right.  And the point was if we don’t correct this, then this is something that has 
to get reported out so that it gets corrected.  That’s the whole point. 

Q:  You never actually said that to him though? 
… 
A:  When I said—I did not specifically say I will report you to OSHA.  I said, these 
need to get fixed or they will be reported to OSHA so that they do get fixed. That’s 
not I’m reporting you to OSHA.  That’s different.  

Id. at 297:14-18, 298:12-299:3.   

III. LEGAL ARGUMENT 

A. Summary Judgment Standard. 

Summary judgment is proper in this matter because “the pleadings, the discovery and 

disclosure materials on file . . . show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact.”  Fed. R. 

Civ. P. 56(c).  Summary judgment is proper in this matter because “the pleadings, the discovery 
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and disclosure materials on file … show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact.”  Fed. 

R. Civ. P. 56(c).  There is no genuine issue of material fact if the nonmoving party fails to make a 

sufficient showing on an essential element of its case as to which it would have the burden of proof 

at trial.  Celotex Corp. v. Catrett, 477 U.S. 317 at 322-23 (1986).     

Defendants need not negate Marks’ claims, but only establish an absence of evidence to 

support them.  Celotex, 477 U.S. at 322.  Once Defendants satisfy their burden, Marks may not rest 

on mere allegations or denials but, rather, must present evidence demonstrating a triable issue of 

fact.  Id.  Marks is required “to go beyond the pleadings and by his own affidavits, or by the 

‘depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file,’ designate ‘specific facts showing 

that there is a genuine issue for trial.’” Id. at 324.  He must adduce relevant, admissible evidence 

upon which the trier of fact could reasonably find in his favor; a mere “scintilla” of evidence, or 

evidence that is only colorable, is insufficient to defeat summary judgment.  Anderson v. Liberty 

Lobby, Inc., 477 U.S. 242, 252 (1986); Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(e).  Where, as here, Marks cannot meet 

this burden, summary judgment must be granted in favor of Defendants.  

B. Marks’ Claim For Unlawful Retaliation Under The FLSA Fails As A Matter 
Of Law. 

1. Marks Cannot Make Out A Prima Facie Case of Retaliation Because He Did 
Not Establish His Employment Would Not Have Been Terminated “But For” 
Having Engaged In Protected Activity. 

The FLSA’s anti-retaliation provision, 29 U.S.C. § 215(a)(3), makes it unlawful for an 

employer: 

to discharge or in any other manner discriminate against any employee because 
such employee has [1] filed any complaint or [2] instituted or caused to be instituted 
any proceeding under or related to this [Act], or [3] has testified or is about to testify 
in any such proceeding, or [4] has served or is about to serve an industry 
committee[.] 

To establish a prima facie case of retaliation under the FLSA, Marks must demonstrate that (1) he 

engaged in statutorily-protected activity, (2) he suffered an adverse employment action, and (3) 

there is a causal connection between the two.  Ray v. Henderson, 217 F.3d 1234, 1240 (9th Cir. 

2000); Lombardi v. Castro, No. 15-55276, 2017 U.S. App. LEXIS 519, at *2 (9th Cir. Jan. 9, 2017).  

Marks must establish all three prima facie elements before the Court proceeds to the other stages 
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of the analysis.  Lombardi, 2017 U.S. App. LEXIS 519 at *2.  Because he cannot meet the first or 

third elements of his prima facie case, his FLSA retaliation claim (First Claim for Relief) fails. 

a. Any actions Marks took regarding the FLSA were within his role 
as DSP’s General Counsel, and, therefore, failed to rise to the 
level of FLSA protected activity. 

Under the plain language of Section 15(a)(3) of the FLSA, there are only four types of 

protected activity for which an employee is covered and, here, there is no dispute that Plaintiff’s 

alleged protected activity is that he “complained.”  Compl. ¶¶ 62 and 63.  A “filing” is a “serious 

occasion, rather than a triviality,” to the point “that the phrase ‘filed a complaint’ contemplates 

some degree of formality.”  Kasten, 563 U.S. at 21.  The U.S. Supreme Court has made clear that 

“a complaint is ‘filed’ when ‘a reasonable, objective person would have understood the employee’ 

to have ‘put the employer on notice that [the] employee is asserting statutory rights under the’” 

FLSA.  Id. at 14.  Specifically, to fall within the scope of Section 15(a)(3), a complaint must be 

“sufficiently clear and detailed for a reasonable employer to understand it [or be put on notice], in 

light of both content and context, as an assertion of rights protected by the statute and a call for 

their protection.”  Id. at 14.  Here, there is no dispute that Marks never “lodged” any complaint 

sufficient to rise to the level of necessary protected activity under the FLSA.  He never assisted any 

employees in asserting FLSA claims against DSP, never encouraged any employees to file their 

own claims, never filed any claims with the U.S. Department of Labor before his employment was 

terminated, and, by his own admission, never even put Saxe on notice of any behavior that could 

possibly form the basis of a retaliation claim – as he must to be found to have engaged in protected 

activity under the FLSA.  Id. at 21.  According to Marks, he told Tokarski, DSP’s former Controller 

that he would “go to the labor commission” if he did not get paid for the day he went home sick, a 

day that he admittedly was paid for.  Ex. C, Marks Dep. 53:25-54:8.  But, Tokarski testified that he 

did not recall Marks making that “threat” and never told Saxe, or anyone else, anything he discussed 

with Marks relating to wage complaints.  Ex. E, Tokarski Dep. 60:17-62:4. Even Marks’ alleged 

amorphous statement to Defendant Saxe immediately prior to his termination, claiming that his 

termination was “about the wage investigation, let’s not pretend,” does not save Marks’ claim.  In 

fact, by Marks’ own admission, Defendant Saxe did not even “know what [] [he was] talking about.”  
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Ex. C, Marks Dep. 57:2-4; Ex. B, Saxe Dep. 137:10-25.  No “reasonable” person would consider 

such a statement by its General Counsel, and completely devoid of any “content and context, to be 

an assertion of rights under the FLSA sufficient to constitute protected activity under the FLSA’s 

anti-retaliation provision.3 Kasten, 563 U.S. at 22; Rosenfield v. Globaltranz Enters., 811 F.3d 282, 

286 (9th Cir. 2015) (citation omitted) (“not all amorphous expressions of discontent related to 

wages and hours constitute complaints filed within the meaning of § 215(a)(3)”); Phelps v. City of 

Parma, 705 Fed. Appx. 503, 504 (9th Cir. 2017) (upholding grant of summary judgment on FLSA 

retaliation claim where employee voiced payroll concerns but employer expected employee “to 

voice work-related concerns and to suggest changes in policy to [her] superiors”); Flick v. Am. Fin. 

Res., Inc., 907 F.Supp. 2d 274, 282 (E.D.N.Y. 2012) (summary judgment granted in favor of 

employer where employee’s questions regarding her commission compensation were merely 

internal company complaints and not sufficiently clear and detailed).   

Moreover, there can be no dispute that, as the General Counsel, Marks was “in a different 

position via-a-vis . . . [DSP] than . . . other employees” because, as the General Counsel, DSP would 

have “expect[ed] . . . [him] to voice work-related concerns and to suggest changes in policy” to 

Saxe.  Rosenfield, 811 F.3d at 286 (recognizing that the distinction between managers and “other 

employees” “may be particularly true with respect to upper-level managers who are responsible for 

ensuring compliance with the FLSA”).  It is undisputed that DSP hired Marks as its General Counsel 

to ensure DSP was operating in compliance with the law and to “keep[] [David Saxe] compliant” 

with the law.  Ex. C, Marks Dep. at 51:16-25; 106:10-19.  Specifically, Marks testified his “primary 

focus was contracts and fair labor” and in his “role as general counsel . . . [he] was supposed to talk 

to [Saxe] as an attorney about issues that [] [he] thought were in violation of wage and hour loss 

[sic].”  Id at 106:10-19; 339:25-340:4.  In fact, Marks testified that before he started working for 

3  Further, Marks did not file a complaint with the Labor Commissioner addressing non-exempt employee issues until 
after his termination.  Ex. C, Marks Dep. 204:13-18.  Even then, it is unclear whether the allegations contained within 
the two post-termination complaints implicate the FLSA.  Indeed, Marks’ “lunch break” allegations are nearly identical 
to the allegations rejected by the Yarbrough court, and thus, on their face, cannot constitute protected activity.  Ex. I at 
MARKS-00017; Yarbrough v. Canyon Gate at Las Vegas, Inc., 2015 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 29750, *6, 2015 WL 1034413, 
2:14-CV-2216 JCM (CWH) (D. Nev. 2015).
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DSP, he read about the “Fair Labor Standards Act . . . [because he knew] that that was going to be 

[his] primary focus . . . . so [he] was pretty well prepped in terms of day one for what [he’d] be 

facing.”  Id. at 106:10-19.  Marks further testified that he wrote the employee provision regarding 

“the process for investigating possible wage deduction issues” and as the General Counsel, if “wage 

theft or wage deductions were improper were brought to my attention, I am to investigate that.”  Id.

at 54:7-55:3.  Because his “job is compliance,” if he “[found] an issue . . . [he had] to fix it . . . 

[because] that’s [his] job as general counsel, to look for the company’s best interest.”  Id. at 115:14-

17.  Thus, there can be no dispute that any alleged issue raised by Marks, the principal individual 

“tasked with ensuring the company’s compliance with the FLSA” surely did not rise to the level of 

a “complaint,” nor would a reasonable employer have understood it to be a “complaint.” Any issues 

Marks arguably raised to Saxe were nothing more than Marks “carrying out his . . . duties” as 

General Counsel and therefore, Marks’ First Claim for Relief, should be dismissed on this basis 

alone.   Rosenfield, 811 F.3d at 286. 

b. Even if Marks’ behavior constitutes FLSA protected activity, he 
has produced no evidence that such protected activity was the 
“but for” reason Saxe terminated his employment. 

In University of Texas Southwestern Medical Center v. Nassar, 570 U.S. 338, 133 S. Ct. 

2517 (2013), the Court unequivocally held that the causation standard in retaliation claims is more 

rigorous than discrimination claims.  Id. at 2530-33.  Therefore, to establish the “causal link” – the 

third element of an employee’s prima facie case – the employee must prove “the adverse actions 

would not have been taken ‘but for’ the protected activities.”  Knickerbocker v. City of Stockton, 81 

F.3d 907, 911 (9th Cir. 1996); McBurnie v. Prescott, 511 F. App’x 624, 624 (9th Cir. 2013) 

(unpublished) (citing Gross v. FBL Fin. Servs., Inc., 577 U.S. 167 (2009); Lombardi, 2017 U.S. 

App. LEXIS 519, at *2 (citation omitted) (“[t]he third element of a prima facie case requires 

showing ‘but-for causation, not the lessened causation test stated in § 2000e-2(m),’ which applies 

to discrimination claims”); see Serlin v. The Alexander Dawson School, No. 14-15937, 2016 U.S. 

App. LEXIS 13744, at *2 (9th Cir. July 28, 2016) (applying the but-for causation standard in 

assessing whether or not the plaintiff established a prima facie case); T.B. v. San Diego Unified 

Sch. Dist., 806 F.3d 451, 473 (9th Cir. 2015), cert. denied sub nom. San Diego Unified Sch. Dist. 
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v. T.B., 136 S. Ct. 1679 (2016), (applying Nassar’s “but-for” standard to the plaintiff’s prima facie

case and concluding that there were “many explanations why the district” may have made the 

decisions it did and “[r]etaliation was not one of them”). 

Marks offers no evidence whatsoever to suggest, much less establish, that Saxe was 

motivated by retaliatory animus when he made the decision to terminate Marks’ employment.  

Rather, based on the extensive record concerning Marks’ unsatisfactory job performance, there can 

be no reasonable dispute, and the material facts establish, that Saxe made the decision to terminate 

Marks’ employment after months of Marks’ failure to adequately and timely perform his job duties 

as DSP’s General Counsel, and ultimately proving unable to run for office without having to 

sacrifice his duties as General Counsel.  The record evidence establishes that Marks had 

performance problems long perform he allegedly raised any “wage issues.”  As early as June 2015, 

Saxe had already started to express frustration with Marks’ failure to meet deadlines and 

communicate his status on the projects to which he was assigned.  Ex. G, Saxe Decl. ¶ 6, Ex. 1.  

During his deposition, Marks conceded that, as early as August 2015, Saxe was considering 

terminating Marks’ employment based on performance and had conveyed his dissatisfaction with 

Marks’ performance and lack of communication.  Ex. C, Marks Dep. 354:11-14; Ex. G, Saxe Decl. 

¶ 7, Ex. 2; Ex. G, Saxe Decl. ¶ 8, Ex. 3 (stating “[I] hate having to ask and ask and remind.  Please 

communicate better.”).  In August 2015, Saxe expressly told Marks, “[y]our attitude has been poor 

for a while now and your performance lackluster at best.  This isn’t working for me.  Let’s meet 

today at noon to discuss our options: Termination, Quitting Or getting on the same page!”  Id. at ¶ 

7, Ex. 2.   

Throughout his employment, Marks also “constantly” missed deadlines for assignments.4

Ex. B, Saxe Dep. 120:18-25; Ex. F, Duran Decl. ¶ 10.  For example, Marks was responsible for 

procuring work visas for performers coming from outside the United States to perform in one of 

Saxe’s productions.  Ex. B., Saxe Dep. 131:7-12.  But, Marks failed to procure the visas on time, 

which resulted in the performers having to arrive later than expected, as well as increasing the 

4 Marks also failed to properly manage and coordinate with outside counsel regarding lawsuits those counsel were 
handling for DSP.  Ex. B, Saxe Dep. 132:18-133:5. 
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associated costs to DSP, which had to pay for expedited processing fees due to Marks’ delay.  Id. 

at 132:2-9; Ex. G, Saxe Decl. ¶ 10, Ex. 5.  In another example, in October 2015, Marks failed to 

timely secure a deposit for a show, did not notify Saxe of his failure to obtain the deposit, and still 

let the show open without securing the appropriate funds.  Ex. G, Saxe Decl. ¶ 9, Ex. 4.   

Thus, the unrefuted evidence shows there was clear criticism of Marks’ performance before 

he engaged in any alleged protected activity, negating Marks’ allegation of a retaliatory motive for 

his termination.  Wu v. Miss. State Univ., No. 14-60917, 2015 U.S. App. LEXIS 17354, at *6 (5th 

Cir. Sept. 29, 2015) (finding that a supervisor’s criticism and negative view of plaintiff’s 

performance before she filed her EEOC complaint “negat[ed] a retaliatory motive for his negative 

assessment [of her performance” subsequent to the filing of her charge sufficient to establish a but-

for causal connection to meet plaintiff’s prima facie case). Indeed, executing managerial decision 

contemplated or undertaken before or “upon discovering” that an individual engaged in protected 

activity – which is not the case here, see supra Section III.B.1.a. – “is no evidence whatsoever of 

causality.”  Clark Cnty. Sch. Dist. v. Breeden, 532 U.S. 268, 273 (2001). 

For Saxe, the last straw occurred in or around February 2016, when it became clear to him 

that Marks “was clearly not into working for me” and Marks’ failure to perform his job duties as 

General Counsel had “got[ten] progressively worse.”  Ex. B, Saxe Dep. 134:13-19; 150:4-5; Ex. 

G, Saxe Decl. ¶ 12, Ex. 7.  In a February 29, 2016 email recording his mental impressions and 

observations regarding Marks’ performance, Saxe reiterated that Marks’ run for political office had 

been, and continued to “interfere with [] [his] obligations at work.”  Id.  On March 1, 2016, Saxe 

once again told Marks, “I am very excited for you that you are running for office but it is not fair 

that you conduct your campaign business while at the office and during hours you are being paid 

by dsp.”  Id.  at ¶ 13, Ex. 8.  Other DSP employees noticed that Marks was working on his campaign 

during the work hours when he was supposed to be working for DSP.  Ex. E, Tokarski Dep. 67:14-

68:8; Ex. F, Duran Decl. ¶¶7-9.  August testified that “Alex [Marks] must have called me into his 

office at least 20 times just to brag to me that he was running for state senate and to try to ask my 

opinion on things like his website [and] logo design.”  Ex. A, August Dep. 65:4-23 (Ex. 3 ¶ 4).  

Indeed, consistent with Saxe’s February and March 2016 emails to Marks, August testified that 
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“Alex admitted to me that David told him to stop working on his campaign at the office and to stop 

distracting and soliciting the employees with his political campaign, but Alex stated that he didn’t 

‘give a shit’ and was going to do it anyway.”  Id. at 65:4-23 (Ex. 3 ¶ 5). 

Moreover, Saxe was not the only one who believed that as Marks got more involved in his 

run for political office, he neglected his duties as General Counsel.  In fact, as time passed, other 

employees, including Tokarski, Duran, and August, all noticed not only that Marks was working 

on his campaign at the office, but was also leaving the office early to work on his campaign. Ex. E,

Tokarski Dep. 67:14-68:8; Ex. F, Duran Decl. ¶7; Ex. A, August Dep. 65:4-23 (Ex. 3 ¶ 7) (“I 

noticed that Alex was missing from the office more and more and he admitted to me that he was 

leaving to go do his campaign duties.”)   

Regardless, for purposes of summary judgment, the only opinion of Marks’ performance – 

or lack thereof – that matters is Saxe’s opinion and there is no dispute that Defendants’ proffered 

reason for his termination – i.e., Marks’ failure to adequately perform the duties as General Counsel 

– is a legitimate, non-retaliatory one.  Brooks, 1 F. Supp. 3d at 1038 (holding that the school 

district’s proffered reason for not renewing the contract was a legitimate and non-discriminatory 

one because it “was based on reported incidents of poor judgment and inappropriate conduct”); 

Dickerson v. Board of Trustees, 657 F.3d 595, 602-03 (7th Cir. 2011) (affirming summary judgment 

because “Plaintiff’s own evaluation of his work cannot be imputed to the employer” and “even if 

the employer executed ‘inaccurate evaluations,’ it would not matter because the decision-maker 

acted with non-retaliatory motives”); Mahomes v. Potter, 590 F.Supp.2d 775, 782 (D.S.C. 2008) 

(“It is the employer’s perception of job performance, and not the employee’s perception, that is 

controlling.”).  Indeed, Marks’ description of the conversation with Saxe where he was terminated 

corroborates Defendants’ legitimate, nondiscriminatory reason: “you’re never here, this isn’t 

working for me, you’re fired.” Ex. C, Marks Dep. 388:11-15.  Because Plaintiff has failed to put 

forward even a scintilla of evidence to establish that, but for his alleged wage investigation, Saxe 

would not have terminated his employment, Marks has failed to meet the third element of his prima 

facie case, and therefore, his First of Claim of Relief must be dismissed.  
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2. If The Court Reaches The Issue Of Pretext, Marks’ Claim Still Fails Because 
Marks Offers No Evidence That Saxe’s Reasons For Terminating Marks 
Were Pretextual. 

Assuming arguendo that Marks established a prima facie case of retaliation (he did not), 

DSP must articulate a legitimate, non-retaliatory reasons for its actions.  Lombardi, No. 15-55276, 

2017 U.S. App. LEXIS 519, at *2.  Because Defendants have articulated a legitimate reason for the 

decision at issue – namely, his failure to adequately perform his duties as General Counsel – any 

presumption of retaliation drops from the case.  Supra Section III(B)(1)(b); see Cornwell v. Electra 

Cent. Credit Union, 439 F.3d 1018, 1028 (9th Cir. 2006) (citations omitted) (once the defendant 

produces a legitimate, nondiscriminatory reason for its challenged employment action, “the 

presumption of discrimination ‘drops out of the picture’”).  Therefore, Marks, who offers no direct 

evidence of retaliatory animus, must show through “specific and substantial” evidence that 

Defendants’ explanation for his termination is “unworthy of credence” and that retaliatory animus 

was the but-for reason for his termination.  Nassar, 133 S. Ct. at 2533; Manatt v. Bank of America 

NA, 339 F.3d 792, 801 (9th Cir. 2003); Smith v. Bd. of Supervisors of S. Univ. & Agric. & Mech. 

College, No. 16-30097, 2016 U.S. App. LEXIS 14777, at *7-8 (5th Aug. 11, 2016) (citations 

omitted) (“[s]howing pretext requires a plaintiff [] to produce substantial evidence indicating that 

the proffered legitimate nondiscriminatory reason is a pretext for discrimination . . . [,] [and] the 

plaintiff must show that the protected activity was the ‘but for’ cause of the retaliation.”); Babarinsa 

v. Kaleida Health, Buffalo Gen. Hosp., No. 14-4555, 2015 U.S. App. LEXIS 20027, at *1-2 (2d 

Cir. Nov. 19, 2015) (citations omitted) (“[o]nce a defendant articulates a legitimate, non-retaliatory 

reason for an adverse employment action, the ‘presumption [] of retaliation’ aiding a plaintiff 

‘dissipates,’ and the ‘plaintiff must prove that the desire to retaliate was the but-for cause of the 

challenged employment action’”).5  Marks has provided neither.  Chavez v. City of San Antonio, 

5  Since Nassar, courts have disagreed as to which stage in the analytical assessment the but-for causation standard 
applies.  The Ninth Circuit applies Nassar to the causal connection requirement of the McDonnell-Douglas prima facie
case.  Lombardi, 2017 U.S. App. LEXIS 519, at *2 (citation omitted); Serlin, 2016 U.S. App. LEXIS 13744, at *2; 
T.B., 806 F.3d at 473.  Other courts agree.  Donald v. UAB Hosp. Mgmt., LLC, No. 2:14-cv-727-WMA, 2015 U.S. Dist. 
LEXIS 83867, at *9-10 (N.D. Ala. June 29, 2015) (collecting cases).  And, as Defendants previously explained, Marks 
has not established a prima facie case.  Supra Section III(B)(1)(a).  However, there are circuits that apply the “but for” 
standard “both ultimately and at the prima facie stage.”  Donald, 2015 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 83867 at *9-10 (collecting 
cases).  Thus, if the Court here reaches the pretext analysis, it is clear that the “but for” heightened standard still applies 
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No. 15-51111, 2016 U.S. App. LEXIS 13804, at *5 (5th Cir. July 29, 2016) (“[d]espite making 

conclusory arguments that there is abundant evidence of pretext, he cites to no evidence suggesting 

that his EEOC complaint was even a motivating factor in this transfer, much less that he would not 

have been transferred but for his filing of the complaint”); Spata v. Smith's Food & Drug Ctrs., 

Inc., 253 Fed. Appx. 648, 649, No. CV-04-00965-KJD (D. Nev. 2007) (plaintiff “presented 

unavailing circumstantial evidence of retaliatory animus.  Such evidence did not amount to the 

“Specific and substantial” evidence of pretext required to avoid summary judgment.”) 

Marks cannot create a material issue of fact, by merely relying on his own assertion that he 

was performing adequately.  Smith, 2016 U.S. App. LEXIS 14777, at *9 (“[s]ubjective beliefs, no 

matter how sincere, simply cannot support a finding that” plaintiff’s protected activity “was a but-

for cause of her termination”); see Dickerson, 657 F.3d at 602-03 (“[p]laintiff’s own evaluation of 

his work cannot be imputed to [the employer], and is insufficient to permit his case to survive past 

summary judgment.”).  Marks also cannot rely on conjecture to establish a question of fact and, yet, 

this is all Marks can offer.  See, e.g. Brown v. Dep't of Pub. Safety, 446 Fed. Appx. 70, 72 (9th Cir. 

2011) (Summary judgment affirmed where plaintiff “presented only his conclusions and 

speculation….”).  Indeed, it does not matter whether Marks was actually present and engaged in 

the office; it only matters whether Saxe believed Marks was not and Marks has not raised a single, 

genuine issue of material fact to suggest that Saxe believed anything other than that Marks was not 

sufficiently performing his job duties as General Counsel. See Villiarimo v. Aloha Air Inc., 281 

F.3d 1054, 1063 (9th Cir. 2002) (internal quotations omitted) (in determining pretext courts “only 

require that an employer honestly believe its reason for its actions, even if its reason is ‘foolish or 

trivial or even baseless’”); see also Waggoner v. City of Garland, 987 F.2d 1160, 1165 (5th Cir. 

1993) (pretext inquiry limited to whether employer believed allegation in good faith and whether 

decision to discharge was based on that belief); Little v. Republic Ref. Co., 924 F.2d 93, 97 (5th Cir. 

– i.e., Marks must show “specific” and “substantial” evidence that but for his alleged complaints, his employment 
would not have been terminated.   
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1991) (even an incorrect belief that an employee’s performance is inadequate constitutes a 

legitimate, non-discriminatory reason). 

Therefore, the Court “should not second guess an employer’s exercise of its business 

judgment in making personnel decisions, as long as they are not discriminatory,”  EEOC v. Republic 

Servs., Inc. 640 F. Supp. 2d 1267, 1313, Nos. CV-S-04-1352 DAE(LRL); CV-S-04-1479-

DAE(LRL) (D. Nev. 2009), because the Court does not sit as a “super personnel department” to 

second-guess whether Marks’ job performance was sufficient. Chapman v. A1 Transp., 221 F.3d 

1012, 1030 (11th Cir. 2000).   

For all the reasons discussed above, Defendants respectfully request that the Court grant 

Defendants’ motion for summary judgment and dismiss Plaintiff’s First Claim for Relief. 

C. MARKS’ NRS 613.040 CLAIM IS FACIALLY DEFICIENCT AND 
UNSUPPORTED BY ANY EVIDENCE 

1. Marks’ NRS 613.040 is Not Actionable Under the Plain Meaning of the 
Statute. 

NRS 613.040, the basis of Marks’ Second Claim for Relief, provides: 

It shall be unlawful for any person, firm or corporation doing business or employing 
labor in the State of Nevada to make any rule or regulation prohibiting or preventing 
any employee from engaging in politics or becoming a candidate for any public 
office in this state. 

NRS 613.040 (emphasis added).  Under the plain meaning rule, “[the Nevada Supreme Court] will 

not look beyond the plain language of the statute, unless it is clear that this meaning was not 

intended.”  Szydel v. Markman, 121 Nev. 453, 456-457, 117 P.3d 200, 202 (2005); see also  Harris 

Assocs. v. Clark County Sch. Dist., 119 Nev. 638, 81 P.3d 532 (2003) (“When the words of a statute 

have a definite and ordinary meaning, the courts should not look beyond the plain language of the 

statute.”).  Where, as here, the language of a statute is clear on its face, the Nevada Supreme Court 

will deduce the legislative intent from the words used.  Id.  The language of NRS 613.040 is clear:  

employers are prohibited from (1) making any “rule or regulation . . .  [that] [2] prohibit[s] or 

prevent[s] any employee from engaging in politics or becoming a candidate . . . .”  Marks’ Second 

Claim for Relief fails for two reasons.   

First, there is no evidence that DSP made “any rule or regulation” that prohibited Marks 
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from engaging in politics, and Marks does not allege one.  See Compl. ¶¶ 67-74; see also Couch, 

2015 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 104021 at *33 (“As a matter of plain language, the prohibition applies only 

to an employer’s rule, regulation . . . preventing an employee from running for or holding public 

office . . . .”).  Second, even if the Court were to infer a “rule” where there was none, no one at DSP 

prevented Plaintiff from engaging in political activity.  See Spitzmesser v. Tate Snyder Kimsey 

Architects, Ltd., 2:10-cv-01700-KJD-LRL, 2011 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 68696, *8-9 (D. Nev. 2011) 

(denying motion to amend as futile where plaintiff alleged he was forced to participate in politics).  

To the contrary, the undisputed evidence, established through Marks’ testimony, is that Saxe “was 

[absolutely] supportive of [Marks] running for office.”   Ex. C, Marks Dep. 31:12- 32:3.  Marks 

further testified that “the understanding that I had from my boss, who clearly was on board with my 

running for assembly and senate, was complete support.”  Id. 59:14-16; Ex. B, Saxe Dep. 115:17-

116:19 (“I could understand that it was a big deal for him…I was happy for him.”).  Indeed, for 

almost the entire time Marks was employed by DSP, he was running for some political office and 

DSP allowed him to do so until it ultimately interfered with his ability to do his job as General 

Counsel – the job DSP was paying him to do.  Id. at 134:13-19; 150:4-5; Ex. G, Saxe Decl. ¶¶ 12-

13, Exs. 7-8.  Thus, Marks’ Second Cause of Action fails on its face and must be dismissed. 

2. Even if The Court Were to Look Beyond the Plain Meaning of NRS 613.040, 
Marks Cannot Establish a Violation of the Statute Because His Employment 
Was Terminated for an Apolitical Reason. 

As discussed above, Defendants have provided legitimate, nondiscriminatory reasons for 

Marks’ termination – namely, his poor job performance, including his increased absence from work, 

lack of communication, and work on campaign activities during work hours.  See supra Section 

III(B)(1)(b).  Indeed, even Marks’ testified that he did not believe his termination was because he 

was running for office, telling Saxe “bluntly” during his termination meeting that “this isn’t about 

politics . . . let’s not pretend.”  Ex. C, Marks Dep. 56:14-57:15.   

While the Nevada Supreme Court has never addressed a NRS 613.040 claim from 

terminated employees, California courts have addressed nearly identical language in the California 

Labor Code and their decisions are instructive.  Similar to NRS 613.040, Section 1101(a) of the 

California Labor Code provides, in part, “[n]o employer shall make, adopt, or enforce any rule, 
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regulation or policy . . . [f]orbidding or preventing employees from engaging or participating in 

politics or from becoming candidates for public office.”  California courts interpreting this statute 

have held that “the purpose” of the statute is “to protect employees’ political freedoms from their 

employers . . . ‘in essence, forbid employers to attempt to control the political activities of 

employees . . . [by] prohibit[ing] employers from making decisions that adversely affect an 

employee (e.g., termination) solely because of the employer’s disagreement with an employee’s 

political viewpoints and his/her expressing them.’” Couch, 2015 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 104021 at *33-

34. In other words, “an employer cannot terminate its employee solely for expressing his/her 

political viewpoints or disagreeing with an employee’s political viewpoint.”  Id. at *38 (emphasis 

added).  In the instant case, there is not a single allegation, much less a fact, that even suggests that 

the basis for Marks’ claim is that Saxe terminated his employment because he disagreed with 

Marks’ political viewpoint.  See Compl. ¶ 71 (“Defendants terminated Plaintiff because he was 

running for Nevada State Senate.”)  In fact, Marks, a Democrat, testified that he did not “know” 

and “never asked” Saxe’s political affiliation.  Ex. C, Marks Dep. 12:20-13:3.   

California courts have also similarly concluded that “[a]n employer’s rule, regulation or 

policy that is enacted for legitimate, apolitical reasons, but has an unintended effect on an 

employee’s ability to run for or hold public office does not violate” the law.  Couch, 2015 U.S. 

Dist. LEXIS 104021 at *33 (holding that if the employer terminated the plaintiff “solely due to his 

pursuing outside-of-work political activity that had no bearing on his workplace performance 

solely because the Firm disagreed with the politics of that activity, the Firm would have violated 

section 1101(a).  But there is simply no evidence of a political motivation underpinning” the 

employment decision.) (emphasis added); Ali v. L.A. Focus Publ’n, 112 Cal. App. 4th 1477, 5 Cal. 

Rptr. 3d 791 (Ct. App. 2003) (holding that liability under the applicable statutes is triggered only if 

an employer fires an employee based on a political motive); Nava v. Safeway Inc., No. F063775, 

2013 Cal. App. Unpub. LEXIS 5452, 2013 WL 3961328, at *7-8, (Cal. Ct. App. Jul. 31, 2013) 

(unpublished) (holding that an employer violates §§ 1101 and 1102 only if it terminates an 

employee for a political reason, as opposed to a legitimate non-political reason).  Indeed, those 

courts have provided explicit examples of the types of behavior that do not violate the statute and 
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expressly found that where, as here, running for political office interferes with a person’s ability to 

perform his job duties, such behavior is not protected by the statute.  Specifically, while an employer 

“potentially” might violate the statute for terminating an employee who participated in a political 

rally for a political candidate who the employer did not support, “an employer certainly would not

violate section 1101 for terminating a full-time employee who joined a political candidate’s 

campaign as a full-time employee if doing so meant the [] employee could not hold two full-time 

jobs.”  Id. at 38-39 (emphasis added). 

In short, there is no genuine dispute of material fact that Saxe’s decision to terminate Marks’ 

employment had nothing to do with Marks’ political affiliation and everything to do with the 

apolitical reason that Marks failed to perform sufficiently his job duties as the General Counsel and 

proved unable to run for office while at the same time fulfilling his obligations as DSP’s General 

Counsel.  See also Couch, 2015 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 104021 at *42 (holding that section 1102 of the 

California Labor Code does not provide an unqualified prohibition on an employer from 

terminating an employee due to his political activity, otherwise, an employer would violate section 

1102 for terminating (or threatening to terminate) an employee who impermissibly misses work to 

participate in political activity during scheduled work hours and that is not the statute’s purpose).  

In Marks’ own words, his termination “[was]n’t about politics . . . let’s not pretend,” Ex. B, Marks 

Dep. 56:25-57:4, and his Second Claim for Relief should be dismissed.  

D. MARKS’ TORTIOUS DISCHARGE CLAIM FAILS BECAUSE THE 
UNDISPUTED EVIDENCE DEMONSTRATES THAT HIS ONLY OSHA 
COMPLAINT WAS SUBMITTED POST-TERMINATION6

1. Marks Does Not Qualify as a Whistleblower Under Nevada Law Because He 
Did Not File a Complaint with OSHA Until After His Termination.

The Nevada Supreme Court has “severely limited [public policy tortious discharge actions] 

to those rare and exceptional cases where the employer’s conduct violates strong and compelling 

public policy.”  Sands Regent v. Valgardson, 105 Nev. 436, 440, 777 P.2d 898, 900 (1989) 

6 Pursuant to the Court’s June 12, 2018 Order granting in part Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss, Marks’ third clam for 
relief for tortious discharge is limited to his alleged OSHA whistleblowing activity. ECF No. 26 at 5.
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(emphasis added); see also State v. Eighth Judicial District Court (Anzalone), 118 Nev. 140, 151-

52, 42 P.3d 233, 240-41 (2002).  Further, to state a whistleblower claim which leads to an exception 

to the presumption of at-will employment, the employee must report the unlawful activity to the 

“appropriate authorities” outside of his employment.  Wiltsie v. Baby Grand Corp., 105 Nev. 291, 

293, 774 P.2d 432, 433 (1989); Scott v. Corizon Health Inc., No. 3:14-CV-00004-LRH-VPC, 2014 

U.S. Dist. LEXIS 65066, *6-7 (D. Nev. 2014) (emphasis in original) (citing Biesler v. Prof. Sys. 

Corp., 177 Fed. Appx. 655, 656 (9th Cir. 2006) (“Nevada precedent is clear, therefore, that unless 

an employee reports the employer’s allegedly illegal activity to authorities outside of the company, 

he or she cannot claim protected whistleblower status.”).  Internal complaints to management or 

the employee’s boss do not suffice because such activity is deemed as “merely acting in a private 

or proprietary manner,” and do not qualify an employee as a whistleblower.  Wiltsie, 105 Nev. at 

293, 774 P.2d at 433.  Relying on Wiltsie, the Nevada Supreme Court, District Court of Nevada, 

and U.S. Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit have all repeatedly dismissed plaintiffs’ tortious 

discharge claims specifically because the employee did not report the alleged illegal activities “to 

the appropriate authorities outside the company.”  Whiting v. Maxim Healthcare Servs., Inc., No. 

56432, 2012 Nev. Unpub. LEXIS 1215, at *2 (Nev. Sept. 13, 2012); Reuber v. Reno Dodge Sales, 

Inc., No. 61602, 2013 Nev. Unpub. LEXIS 1658, at *3 (Nev. Nov. 1, 2013) (citation omitted)

(“While this court has recognized protections for whistleblowers, such protections are limited to an 

employee who reports activity to an agency outside the company. . . .”); Ainsworth v. Newmount 

Mining Corp., No. 56250, 2012 Nev. Unpub. LEXIS 435, at *7-8 (2012) (same); Biesler, 177 Fed. 

Appx. at 656 (same); see Van Asdale v. Int’l Game Tech., No. 11-16538, No. 11016626, 549 Fed. 

Appx. 611, 2013 U.S. App. LEXIS 19843, at *5 (9th Cir. 2013) (“Nevada’s tortious-discharge law 

states that an employee must expose an employer’s illegal activity to the proper authorities, not 

merely to a supervisor, to be entitled to protection for whistleblowing.”); Wilson v. Greater Las 

Vegas Ass’n of Realtors, Case No. 2:14-cv-00362-APG-NJK, 2016 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 58595, at 

*18-19 (D. Nev. 2015) (dismissing plaintiff’s tortious discharge claim because her conduct did not 

“seek to further the public good” because she did not allege that she reported misconduct to the 

“appropriate authorities”). 
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Here, there is simply no dispute that Marks did not report any conduct to “appropriate 

authorities” outside of his employer as required to state a claim in Nevada until after his termination. 

Ex. C, Marks Dep. 278:10-279:7; Ex. J at MARKS-00028-00029.  This fact alone is fatal to Marks’ 

Third Claim for Relief. 

Moreover, during his deposition, Marks confirmed not only did he not complain to any 

outside authority, but he had not affirmatively decided to expose any alleged illegal OSHA practices 

contrary to the allegations in his Complaint.  Specifically, Marks testified that, in his discussions 

with Saxe, he “wasn’t explicit I’m going to OSHA.  It was these are reportable violations” and, 

instead, was simply “advising [] [Saxe] as the general counsel that [] [he] thought these were 

violations of OSHA.”  Ex. C, Mark Dep. 297:14-298:18.  Marks even further clarified to Saxe that 

“that’s not I’m reporting you to OSHA.  That’s different.”  Id. at 298:24-299:3.  The undisputed 

material fact is clear:  Marks never even threatened, much less actually reported – as he must under 

the law – to report any alleged violation to OSHA during his employment.  Accordingly, Marks’ 

conduct is insufficient as a matter of law to establish a whistleblower claim and thus, his Third Claim 

for Relief fails as a matter of law and must be dismissed.  Wiltsie, 105 Nev. at 293, 774 P.2d at 433.  

2. Marks Cannot, As a Matter of Law, Establish That the Alleged Whistleblowing 
Was the Proximate or Actual Cause For His Termination.

Assuming arguendo that Marks could bring a whistleblower claim for tortious discharge 

under Nevada law (he cannot), Marks’ claim still fails because, for the reasons discussed in more 

detail above, see supra Sections III.B.1. and 2, Marks has failed to present any facts sufficient to 

establish that his employment was terminated for anything other than his inability to perform 

sufficiently his duties as General Counsel – much less that the proximate cause of his termination 

was retaliatory animus on the part of Saxe for Marks’ alleged OSHA complaints, complaints he 

admittedly did not make, or even threaten to make, prior to the termination of his employment.  Ex. 

C, Marks Dep. 297:14-18; 298:12-299:3 (“That’s not I’m reporting you to OSHA. That’s 

different.”).  “The employee's burden at trial is to prove that the protected conduct was the 

"proximate cause" of [his] discharge; a "mixed motives" theory is insufficient for tortious 

discharge.” Cummings v. United Healthcare Servs., 2014 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 44789, *17 (D. Nev. 
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2014) (citing Allum v. Valley Bank of Nev., 114 Nev. 1313, 1318, 970 P.2d 1062 (1998) and 

discussing that “proximate” cause means “actual” cause); see also Stephens v. One Nev. Credit 

Union, 2016 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 75302, *11 (D. Nev. 2016) (“To prevail on his tortious discharge 

claim, [employee] must show that his complaint was the proximate or actual cause for his 

termination.”).  In other words, Marks must demonstrate that DSP’s motivation was “purely 

wrongful.”  Sproul v. Washoe Barton Med. Clinic, 2013 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 60054, *17, 2013 WL 

1792187 (D. Nev. 2013) (citing Allum, 970 P.2d 1062). 

In short, Marks cannot meet the heavy burden to establish proximate or actual cause, 

especially where the only instances wherein he allegedly mentioned OSHA to Saxe prior to his 

termination were in his advisory role as General Counsel.  Marks testified his role at DSP was 

specifically to ensure that Defendants were in compliance with the law. Ex C., Marks Dep. 115:14-

17 (“my job is compliance… [because] that’s my job as general counsel, to look for the company’s 

best interest.”).  Indeed, Marks testified that he never mentioned the alleged OSHA issues to Saxe 

in a context other than his role as General Counsel and that, his Complaint allegation, wherein he 

alleged he “told Saxe that he would have to report the violations to OSHA” was mischaracterized.  

Id. at 294:15-295:9; 297:4-13.  As such, no reasonable person would have understood such a 

statement to mean that Marks filed, or even was threatening to file, a complaint with OSHA.  In the 

absence of such a threat and the presence of multiple, undisputed performance issues, Marks cannot 

show that his OSHA-related discussions were a cause, let alone the proximate cause, of his 

termination.  Further, there is no question that Marks is unable to establish “purely wrongful” 

motivation where the record is replete with evidence that the DSP’s motive for terminating Marks 

was his persistent inability to perform his job duties.  Sproul, 2013 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 60054 at *17.  

Marks’ performance issues were evident as early as June of 2015, well before he allegedly became 

aware of a welding issue in November 2015. Ex. G, Saxe Decl. ¶ 6, Ex. 1; Ex. C, Marks Dep. 

250:18-251:13.  Saxe’s expressed dissatisfaction with Marks’ performance and contemplation of 

his termination before Marks engaged in any alleged protected activity sufficient to state a claim 

for tortious discharge, negates Marks’ allegation of a retaliatory motive for his termination, as does 

Mark’s characterization of the cooperative and advisory nature of the alleged OSHA discussions 
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with Saxe and Duran. Ex. C, Marks Dep. 263:25-264:21 (Duran, Saxe, and Marks worked together 

for “months” to resolve the welding certification issue); 298:12-18 (Marks advised Saxe as general 

counsel regarding possible OSHA violations).   

Even if the Court were to look beyond the evidence in the record and conclude that Marks’ 

discussions with Saxe regarding OSHA contributed in part to Saxe’s motive for termination, Marks 

could never establish, as a matter of law, that Saxe’s entire motive was based on these discussions.  

The court’s decision in Blanck v. Hager, 360 F. Supp. 2d 1137, No. CV-N-04-0051-PMP (RAM) 

(D. Nev. 2005) is instructive.  The Blanck court found “even assuming Plaintiff's actions were a 

motivating cause of his termination, it is evident that his actions were but one of many reasons for 

his termination as General Counsel…[i[n Nevada, a Plaintiff seeking relief under a theory of 

tortious or retaliatory discharge must demonstrate that his protected conduct was the proximate 

cause of his termination.” Id. at 1156 (citing Allum, 970 P.2d at 1066). Here, as in Blanck, Marks’ 

tortious discharge claim must be rejected because he “fails to provide any evidence that his 

protected conduct was the proximate cause of his termination, and not one of many causes.”  Id.

3. Marks Cannot Establish the Existence of A Reasonable, Good Faith Suspicion 
that Anyone at DSP Participated in Illegal Conduct.

Additionally, even in the unlikely event that Marks’ alleged internal discussions of OSHA 

violations could trigger whistleblower protection under Nevada’s public policy, and Marks could 

establish that these discussions were the proximate cause of his termination, Marks’ whistleblower 

claim must still be rejected because he must have reasonably suspected, in good faith, that DSP 

participated in illegal conduct.  Henderson v. Bonaventura, 649 Fed. Appx. 639, 641, 2016 U.S. 

App. LEXIS 8838, *4-5 (9th Cir. 2016) (remanding to district court to assess whether employee 

possessed good faith belief pursuant to Allum, 970 P.2d at 1067).  Marks’ testimony makes clear 

that, here, there can be no such finding.  According to Marks, the sole basis for his OSHA claim is 

that, on one occasion, he noticed an employee welding in the theater, learned that certifications 

were required to perform welding, and discovered after the fact that the employee he observed 

during the tour did not have a certification. Ex. C, Marks Dep. 251:14-24, 254:6-16, 260:24-261:11.  

Marks testified that Marks, Duran, and Saxe began working to resolve the issue by identifying 
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which employees had previous certifications and other employees whom it be would be cost-

effective to have certified.  Id. at 263:25-264:21. And, after January 2016, Marks did not observe a 

single DSP employee performing welding without certification.  Id. at 271:16-272:7.  Despite the 

fact that Marks never observed a single instance of the alleged violation after January 2016, Marks 

filed a complaint with OSHA on March 4, 2016.  Ex. J, MARKS-00028-00029.  As such, there is 

simply no evidence to support a contention that Marks actually possessed a reasonable, good faith 

suspicion of participation in illegal conduct when he was terminated, or when he filed his OSHA 

complaint.  In fact, the record evidence demands a contrary conclusion:  Marks’ OSHA complaint 

was submitted in bad faith, in an attempt to “get even with David Saxe for firing him.”  Ex. A, 

August Dep. 65:4-23-66:25 (Ex. 3 ¶ 4).  For this reason, as well as all the reasons discussed above, 

the Court should reject Plaintiff’s tortious discharge claim and dismiss Plaintiff’s Third Claim for 

Relief. 

III. CONCLUSION

For each and all of the above stated reasons, Defendants respectfully request that the Court 

grant summary judgment in their favor and against Marks on all claims raised, as well as any other 

relief the Court deems reasonable and appropriate.    

Dated this 20th day of December, 2019. 

JACKSON LEWIS P.C. 

/s/ Kirsten A. Milton
Kirsten A. Milton, Bar #14401 
Lynne K. McChrystal Bar #14739 
900 S. Fourth Street, Suite 900 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 

Attorneys for Defendants 
David Saxe Productions, LLC, 
Saxe Management, LLC and David Saxe
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I HEREBY CERTIFY that I am an employee of Jackson Lewis P.C., and that on this 20th 

day of December 2019, I caused to be served via the Court’s CM/ECF Filing, a true and correct 

copy of the above foregoing DEFENDANTS’ MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT 

properly addressed to the following: 

Jeffrey Gronich 
Jeffrey Gronich, Attorney At Law, P.C. 
1810 E. Sahara Ave., Ste. 109 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89104 

Attorneys for Plaintiff 
Alexander Marks

  /s/  Mayela E. McArthur  
Employee of Jackson Lewis P.C. 
4834-0195-0127, v. 1
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